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OFFICE P
(33.33)

Tadvest Limited is an investment holding company with the 
primary objective of investing in attractive, high yielding, cash 
generative assets. We provide investors with a combination 
of sustainable capital and income growth through a portfolio 
that consists of private equity investments, listed equity 
investments, direct and indirect property holdings.

Our aim is to provide our investors with a diversified investment, 
which gives them access to premium assets across a range  
of industries and global exposure. We are currently invested  
in South Africa, DRC, Poland, Australia, Sweden and North 
America. 

We are uniquely positioned to invest in Africa and globally 
through our primary listing on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius 
and our secondary listing on the Namibian Stock Exchange. 
Our dual-listed structure with associated capital allocation 
flexibility, provides an excellent platform for our investors  
to take advantage of unique global opportunities that meet  
our investment criteria. 

ABOUT US
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VISION, MISSION & CORPORATE 
VALUES
VISION

Our vision is to emerge as a leading diversified investment  
holding company by focusing on investments with high growth  
potential in Africa and across the world.  
 
MISSION

Our mission is to create sustainable growth for our shareholders  
by building up and investing into a diversified portfolio of assets  
that provide sustainable capital and investment income growth. 
 
CORPORATE VALUES

We believe that the return on investment is directly linked  
to the corporate values of a particular business. The commitment  
to fostering corporate values influences growth and delivers  
significant long-term value to our shareholders and partners.  
 
INTEGRITY AND THE PRACTICE OF GOOD  
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Emphasis on integrity and good corporate governance is key  
to building sustainable businesses and is achieved by adhering  
to the highest ethical standards. Professional integrity in all  
financial and business matters is essential to building and 
maintaining relationships.  
 
GENUINE PARTNERSHIPS

We believe in establishing strong partnerships and, where  
possible, having direct involvement with our investments  
and portfolio companies to serve as a platform for each  
of them to reach their full potential.

External Service Providers
While the board is responsible for the management of the  
Company and its asset portfolio, it has delegated certain key  
duties to two main service providers. Safyr Utilis Ltd has been  
appointed to manage all administrative matters relating to day 
-to-day administration of the business, while Abman(Pty) Ltd  
acts as the Company’s investment advisor and is tasked with  
sourcing and analysing new investment opportunities, and  
making recommendations to the board and its sub-committees. 
Tadvest has entered into service level agreements to govern  
the relationship it has with these service providers.

TADVEST ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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Chairman’s report
Deva Marianen
It is with pleasure that I present Tadvest Limited’s Annual Report  
for the year ended 31 December 2019 and to summarise our  
progress for this year in line with our Company’s overall strategy.  
On behalf of the board, I am happy to report that for another  
year running, we have remained on track during the financial  
year with progress made towards achieving our investment  
objectives. The Company’s Net Asset Value per share appreciated  
by 9.8% in US dollar terms over the year as the Company pursued  
its continuous effort to refine and diversify the portfolio for future  
growth. Even while factoring in the slight weakness in the US dollar  
against the basket of currencies which Tadvest’s investments  
are exposed to, the underlying growth in the portfolio was  
a satisfactory 7.8% on a constant currency basis. 

During the year Tadvest made two exciting new investments  
which are expected to yield positive returns for the Company  
in the years ahead. The strong economic fundamentals of the  
Polish economy remain attractive to the Company, which  
partnered up with a strong in-country development partner,  
Golub GetHouse and concluded an investment into the student  
housing development, LivinnX Krakow. Late in the year the  
Company concluded an investment into Alaris Holdings,  
a Radio Frequency technology company with subsidiaries  
in South Africa, Finland and the USA. Our attraction to Alaris  
was a result of their expanding IP base, global sales footprint,  
high margins and solid cash convertibility. We look forward  
in working together with the management team to grow the  
business and unlock value for shareholders.   

The portfolio has a good balance of investment property, cash  
and liquid assets and private equity as at year end. The Company 
has also maintained sufficient cash within the portfolio to support 
growth initiatives in the existing portfolio of companies as well  
as invest in new opportunities which align with our investment  
philosophy.

Overall, we are pleased with the performance of the portfolio  
during 2019. The Portfolio Overview provides a detailed analysis  
of the key strategies and investment highlights of the Company  
during 2019. While the world economy undoubtably faces  
substantial headwinds in the face of a Covid-19 pandemic  
it remains our objective to support and provide guidance  
to our investments and portfolio companies through difficult  
economic and financial conditions.

Deva Marianen  
Director  
13 March 2020
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Board Of Directors

DEVA MARIANEN
Executive Director

IAN CHAMBERS
Executive Director

Prior to Ian’s emigration to Mauritius in 2008, Ian was extensively  
involved in the property and industrial sector in South Africa,  
by virtue of his position as tax partner at FHS Chartered Accountants, 
Head of Project and Structured Finance at Credit Agricole Bank  
and tax partner at Routledge Modise Attorneys up to January 2008. 
Ian has an international consulting company providing advice  
on business advisory, tax and exchange control matters. He is also 
a consultant to numerous management and trust companies  
in Mauritius.

Deva is an Economist, Chartered Secretary, administrator 
and the founder of the SAFYR Group. He specialises  
in Capital Markets with a strong focus on Private Equity, serving 
as an advisor to several large institutions and family offices. 
Throughout his career, he has led various mergers and 
acquisitions globally, while also assisting large multinationals 
and ultra-high net worth individuals to consolidate their 
international businesses in a tax and exchange control 
efficient manner. 

TADVEST ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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CHRIS NESER
Non-Executive director

Chris has over 6 years’ experience in investment advisory  
and strategic involvement in Operating Entities, Asset  
Management and Group Restructuring. He has been  
extensively involved on boards of various investment  
entities with experience in hedge funds and unit trusts, 
including the listing of the Pivotal Fund in 2014 and  
Tadvest Limited in 2016. This includes the restructure  
and enhancement of balance sheets of companies within  
the Abcon Group of Companies. Chris completed his  
studies in accounting at the University of Stellenbosch  
in 2010 and qualified as a CA(SA) in 2013.

MIKE GRAY
Non-Executive Director

Mike is a qualified CA(SA), FCMA and CGMA and was Group  
Audit Manager at Anglo American HO and Ithala Bank between  
1981 and 1985. He then started Gray Harlow, a public accounting 
practice in 1985 and co-founded Federal Air, an air charter  
company, in 1987. He co-founded SA Express Airways (SAX)  
and was CFO from 1992 to 1998, when he and his partners sold  
to SAA. He then joined Uniglobe Travel International as master 
licensor and CEO for Africa in 1999 until 2015, moving the African 
regional office from South Africa to Mauritius in 2008. 

DAVE SAVAGE
Non-Executive Director

Dave has 30 years of experience in the property industry,  
25 of which have been dedicated to the growth of the  
Abcon Group. Dave has been involved in all aspects of Abland  
becoming a national property development company active 
in all industry sectors. He was also integrally involved in the  
formation and listing of the Pivotal Fund. Dave currently  
serves as CEO of the Abcon group of companies.

Prior to Ian’s emigration to Mauritius in 2008, Ian was extensively  
involved in the property and industrial sector in South Africa,  
by virtue of his position as tax partner at FHS Chartered Accountants, 
Head of Project and Structured Finance at Credit Agricole Bank  
and tax partner at Routledge Modise Attorneys up to January 2008. 
Ian has an international consulting company providing advice  
on business advisory, tax and exchange control matters. He is also 
a consultant to numerous management and trust companies  
in Mauritius.

GROUP OVERVIEW
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Portfolio Overview
WHO WE ARE

Tadvest Limited is an investment holding company with a diverse 
asset base split across various industries and jurisdictions. Our Net 
Asset Value (NAV) at the end of 2019 was USD 60.2 million while 
the Gross Asset Value (GAV) was USD 88.2 million.  
 
Tadvest seeks to drive the intrinsic value growth and the income 
growth from its investments in a sustainable manner over the long 
term. Free cash flow generated by investments is used to reinvest 
in the competitive advantage of these investments.  
 
If return hurdles are not met in these investments, funds are 
redeployed in the rest of the portfolio and into new investments  
to optimize growth and diversification.  

The major investments which Tadvest holds in the portfolio  
as at 31 December 2019 are:

1. High quality investment property (commercial  
      and mixed-use) 

2. Alaris Holdings (defence) 

3. LivinnX Krakow (Polish PBSA)

4. Cash and Money Market investments

5. EPP (listed Polish retail property company)

6. Trakka Systems (aerospace)

7. Fruitvest (fruit processor)

8. Country Mushrooms (mushroom producer)

9. Alphamin Resources (tin miner)

10. Topshell (container conversions and rental)

11. Kemtek (distributor of leading technology)

TADVEST ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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31 December 2017 31 December 2019
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31 December 2018

OUR OBJECTIVE

Our long-term objective is to create a sustainable increase  
in wealth for Tadvest’s shareholders through the growth in the  
intrinsic value of a diversified portfolio of global investments.  
More specifically, Tadvest targets a Compounded Annual Growth 
Rate (CAGR) of the NAV of 12% in USD terms in the portfolio  
over the long term.  
 

OUR INVESTMENT PHILOSOPHY

The company’s Investment Philosophy is to identify and invest  
in assets, both in the unlisted and listed space, with the following 
investment criteria:

1. A skilled and experienced management team with integrity  
      and an excellent work ethic; 

2.   Strong business fundamentals and a proven track record;  

3. Highly cash generative exhibiting the ability to turn profits  
      into cash for reinvestment or return to shareholders; 
 
4. High projected growth emanating from a combination  
      of operations in attractive sectors (strong demand  
      and high barriers to entry) and relative competitive advantages  
      within those sectors;  
 
5. Synergies with other investments within the portfolio; and 

6. A clear exit strategy should be identifiable.

NET ASSET VALUE BREAKDOWN

38.0%

GROUP OVERVIEW
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Tadvest’s approach is to partner with the existing management  
team of the business to put in place a strategy to harness long  
term sustainable capital and investment income growth which  
benefits all the stakeholders of the company. 

While Tadvest is a long-term investor, it still approaches each 
investment opportunity with a potential exit strategy in mind.  
This allows the company to be agile should the market conditions 
change, or should any alternative opportunities arise. 
 
All assets are reviewed on a regular basis for continued inclusion  
in the portfolio based on the overall investment strategy. 
The company does not have a specific time horizon within  
which it must exit investments.  
 
 
DIVERSIFICATION OF PORTFOLIO

The investment philosophy is applied in diversifying the asset  
base, taking into account the following:

1.   Prevailing market conditions and capital market expectations 
 
2. Investment jurisdictions

3. Sector exposure and knowledge

4. Asset-specific fundamental economic factors

Diversification is being achieved gradually as and when appropriate 
investment opportunities are identified. An investment opportunity 
will need to be attractive both when considered in isolation as 
well as when considered in the context of the broader portfolio. 
Diversification will therefore be a controlled and steady process. 
 
 
PORTFOLIO IN REVIEW

Tadvest achieved NAV per share growth of 9.8% over the year 
as the NAV grew from USD 1.22 per share at 31 December 2018  
to USD 1.34 per share at 31 December 2019. The underlying 
growth in the portfolio’s investments was positively impacted  
by a weaker US dollar which weakened 2.0% on average compared 
to the underlying currencies which Tadvest’s portfolio of assets  
is invested in. As a percentage of Tadvest’s NAV these assets  
are 48% in South African Rands, 28% in US Dollars, 13% in Euros, 
11% in Australian Dollars.   
 
On a constant currency basis the portfolio grew 7.8%. The growth 
was achieved mostly by gains in the fair value of our private 
companies which on balance increased in value on account  
of improving operating performances.  
 
Revaluations in the portfolio of investment properties was slightly  
positive while the listed portfolio contributed negatively to the  
constant currency growth in the NAV. 

GROUP OVERVIEW
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On page 15 the breakdown is shown of Tadvest’s portfolio 
based on which countries the underlying portfolio companies 
or assets have their operations as well as where these  
companies or assets earn their revenue from. The intention  
of these graphs is to show firstly the exposure to a specific  
country from an operational point and secondly to understand 
the exposure of revenue streams within the portfolio. Global 
in the graphs refers to a variety of countries mostly in Europe,  
Asia and Australasia.  

Through continued extensive management discussions and  
strategy sessions, the focus during the year with the various  
portfolio companies was on improving operating performances, 
further enhancing corporate governance and refining the strategies  
for sustainable growth with the various management teams. 

The core focus remains on the following elements for each  
portfolio company and investment:

1. Sustainable and profitable operating performance;

2. Long-term strategic planning;

3. Growth forecast and capital allocation plans;

4. Scalability and diversification;

5. Succession planning and management alignment with  
      various strategies;

6. Improving on detailed asset reporting and forecasts;  
      and

7. Timing of exit or clarifying exit strategy 

CHANGE IN TADVEST NAV PER SHARE FROM 2018 TO 2019 (USD CENTS)

Starting NAV Property Pvt Equity Listed Equity Profit Currency Closing NAV

120

126

122

128

124

130

132

134

122.00

0.97

6.41 (1.86)

4.06

2.42 134.00

TADVEST ANNUAL REPORT 2019



13

SECTOR EXPOSURE BASED ON NAV
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During the year two significant new investments were made  
in the portfolio. Firstly, an investment was made in a student  
housing development in Krakow, Poland called LivinnX Krakow. 
The project, developed by the Polish developer, Golub GetHouse 
was completed in September 2019 with 710 beds available in 290  
units of various configurations. The amenities and facilities are  
of an exceptionally high standard which makes LivinnX Krakow  
a unique offering in the Polish market.  

Towards the end of the year an investment was made in the JSE  
AltX listed company, Alaris Holdings. As a Radio Frequency  
technology holding company, Alaris designs, develops and  
manufactures state-of-the-art specialized broadband antennas  
and related products used in communication, frequency  
spectrum monitoring, testing, and electronic warfare in the  
homeland security space. Its clients are located across the globe  
but mostly in the Americas, Europe and Asia. Alaris Holdings  
is headquartered in South Africa and has subsidiaries in Finland  
and the USA.  
 
With tough economic conditions impacting the South African  
property market, where the bulk of Tadvest’s property assets  
are located, there was limited movement in the market values  
of the properties during the year. Within the portfolio Tadvest  
purchased an additional 5% stake in Rosebank Towers bringing  
its total stake to 15%. Other milestones include the completion  
of Hertford Building I and the commencement with ground  
works on the Hertford Gym which will include the new Flexi  
Life concept, the completion of Bridgestone’s new SA head  
office in Waterfall Ridge as well as the opening of the Menlyn  
Central Toyota dealership in August 2019.  
 
Tadvest’s portfolio of properties are predominantly based in resilient  
precincts and nodes and are well positioned to weather tough  
economic trading conditions. 
 
Tadvest is continuously on the lookout for investments which  
meet our strict investment criteria. Efforts over the coming  
years will be focused on making investments which demonstrate  
defensible moats, have strong and reliable management and  
possess the ability to generate substantial amounts of cash.  
 
These will include businesses and investments geared for long  
term growth and exposed to longer term secular growth trends  
in global markets. During the past year a significant portion of  
Tadvest’s cash was deployed into new and existing investments  
which we expect will yield positive results in the years ahead.  
Further investments in Poland are planned for the coming year 
in the property logistics and industrial space. 

As a fair amount of cash has been deployed and new investments 
committed to, the focus on the year ahead will be to continuously  
refine the portfolio and give strategic support to the underlying  
companies and investments wherein Tadvest is invested.  

TADVEST ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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ASSET NAME PERCENTAGE CATEGORY

Hertford Office Park 11.6% Investment Property

Waterfall Ridge 3.4%  Investment Property

Riverfront Square 3.1% Investment Property

Rosebank Towers 2.7% Investment Property

Other residential 2.6% Investment Property

LivinnX Krakow 2.2% Investment Property

Menlyn Central 2.1% Investment Property

West End Office Park 1.7% Investment Property

Centurion Junction 1% Investment Property

Trakka Group 17.8% Portfolio Companies

Alaris Holdings 8.5% Portfolio Companies

Fruitvest 8.2% Portfolio Companies

Country Mushrooms 4.4% Portfolio Companies

Topshell 3.4% Portfolio Companies

Alphamin 2.3% Portfolio Companies

Kemtek 2.0% Portfolio Companies

Other Portfolio Companies 0.1% Portfolio Companies

EPP 10.5% Liquid Investments

Cash USD 7.4% Cash and Liquid Investments

Cash ZAR 5.0%  Cash and Liquid Investments

100%

Tadvest’s Net Asset Value of USD 60.2 million is made up of a group of diverse yet focused portfolio companies  
(47%), high quality investment property (30%) and cash and liquid investments (23%). The overall portfolio  
is continually analysed and refined to ensure that each investment meets the investment criteria and has a clear  
path to growth. 

TADVEST ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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NET ASSET BREAKDOWN BASED ON NAV
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24
Tadvest’s Net Asset Value of USD 60.2 million is made up of a group of diverse yet focused portfolio companies  
(47%), high quality investment property (30%) and cash and liquid investments (23%). The overall portfolio  
is continually analysed and refined to ensure that each investment meets the investment criteria and has a clear  
path to growth. 
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Alphamin1
Alphamin Resources is a TSX and JSE listed low cost tin 
concentrate producer operating the first large commercial  
tin mine in the eastern Democratic Republic of Congo called  
the Bisie Tin Project. At a tin grade of roughly 4.5%, the mine  
is the world’s highest-grade tin resource – about four times 
higher than most other operating tin mines in the world. 
Alphamin produces responsible, developmental, conflict-free  
tin concentrate, while promoting community development, 
safety, health and environmentally sound practices. In 2019 
Alphamin ramped up production with an annual target  
of around 10 000 tonnes of contained tin which is expected  
to be reached in 2020. This would amount to about 3% of the 
global tin supply. The commodity price outlook for tin  
is attractive with constrained long-term global supply  
and structurally good fundamental demand for the commodity. 
The project is already bringing substantial benefits to local 
communities and holds promise of very attractive returns  
for investors for many years to come. 

alphaminresources.com

We love seeing meticulous 
planning put into motion.

26
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Originally established in 1986 on the Wattlewood farm in the 
Bapsfontein area, Country Mushrooms has always been in the 
pursuit of growing only the finest quality mushrooms in South 
Africa. With the addition of neighbouring Aalwyne Farm, Country 
Mushrooms quickly became one of the biggest producers 
of fresh mushrooms in Gauteng. 

With the introduction of innovative technology, improved 
cultivation methods and expert guidance from top growers,  
the production output on the two farms has been increased. 
Both farms have their own pack houses where all mushrooms 
are packed before delivery. They ensure that all produce 
meets Halaal certified standards and supply a comprehensive 
selection of mushrooms, ranging from 250g pre-packs to 5kg 
boxes. 

Country Mushrooms has a large delivery fleet of 19 vehicles 
and can deliver anywhere in Gauteng and surrounding areas  
on a daily basis. Their broad customer base includes restaurants, 
fast food outlets as well as wholesalers and chain stores.  
 
All their facilities, including the pack houses and growing 
rooms, are fully accredited by Haccp, Global GAP & Farming  
for the Future. 

COUNTRY
MUSHROOMS2

countrymushrooms.co.za

INVESTMENT OVERVIEW
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EPP is a Dutch dual listed real estate investment company that  
follows the REIT formula regarding investment strategy and 
dividend policy, investing in retail and office properties  
throughout Poland. EPP’s current portfolio includes 29 retail  
projects and 1 development project as well as 6 office projects  
totaling over 1 million m² of GLA. The buildings are located  
in 18 cities across Poland which are characterised by their  
strong economies and purchasing power of their inhabitants.  
Its goal is to create Poland’s leading, cash-generating platform  
of well-performing retail assets that will deliver consistently  
high returns to their shareholders.

3 EPP

epp-poland.com

We see exponential value 
where process and purpose 
come together.

TADVEST ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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Fruitvest is a holding company of two fruit processing plants 
in the Lowveld area. Hoedspruit Fruit Processors is situated  
in Hoedspruit and focuses mainly on the production of Citrus  
Juice NFC (not from concentrate), subtropical frozen pulps  
and concentrates, as well as mango atchar. BronPro, based  
in Nelspruit, produces high quality aseptically packed subtropical  
pulps and concentrates. They also manufacture concentrated,  
high quality, formulated juices and nectars for use by industry  
to produce quality single strength beverages as well as Citrus  
Juice NFC and concentrates. Fruitvest has evolved from a small 
scale manufacturer of frozen and preserved guava and mango 
pulps to a South African and global market leader. 

FRUITVEST4

bronpro.co.za
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Kemtek  
Imaging Systems

kemtek.co.za

For 31 years, Kemtek has been delivering the most innovative 
technologies in printing, barcoding and labelling, providing 
on-going technical support and the highest level of post-sales 
service. And, as the company grows in size and stature, 
the pursuit for disruptive technology continues, providing 
businesses with a competitive edge for industry 4.0.

Kemtek’s grasp of the traditional printing realm has already 
expanded to mastering large format and digital printing 
techniques and tools. More recently, with associate company, 
Rapid 3D, the group has also become a leading force in the 
revolutionary art of 3D printing. 

Expansion across Africa, unlocking multiple industries including 
manufacturing, agriculture, automotive, medical, and beyond,  
is what drives the group’s long-term growth plan. 

5

Every new advance in technology, 
propels our businesses forward.
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topshell.co.za

Topshell was founded in Stellenbosch originally as a container  
and chemical toilet hire company that rented container-based  
site offices, stores, and chemical toilets, with the construction  
industry as its anchor customer. Originally Topshell only converted 
containers for their own rental fleet but due to demand, they sold  
the toilet business and built a Special Projects Workshop during  
2014 where they converted containers and custom-built pods  
for special applications for the open market. The pods and  
containers range from 3m to 12m in length and 2,4m to 3,4m 
in width. During 2015 Topshell expanded its footprint by establishing  
a new business unit in Gauteng, also with a workshop facility. 

• Topshell Container site rental with air-conditioned site offices,  
conference pods. 

• Stores, accommodation units, etc. delivered to customer  
sites on time with crane trucks. 

• Topshell Self-storage; affordable and with 24/7 access. 
Currently only in Stellenbosch with expansion of this service  
planned in next year.

• Topshell Special Projects Workshop for custom-built movable 
pods such as laboratories, basic health care service centres,  
clinics, crèches, water treatment facilities, accommodation  
pods, coffee shops, etc. 

• The business focus is to provide movable, innovative, custom- 
built working and living spaces allowing people to live their  
business and private life dreams. 

TOPSHELL6
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ALARIS HOLDINGS7
Alaris Holdings Limited is a Radio Frequency (“RF”)  
technology holding company listed on the JSE AltX since  
July 2008.

The Alaris Group operates in multiple international  
countries and consists of the following entities:

Alaris Antennas, headquartered in Centurion, South Africa,  
designs, develops, manufactures and sells state-of-the-art,  
specialised broadband antennas and other related RF products.  
 
These specialised products are used in communication,  
frequency spectrum monitoring, testing and measurement,  
electronic warfare and other specialised markets  
across the world.

COJOT, founded in 1986 and located in Espoo, Finland, serves 
military and public safety markets globally. With more than  
30 years of experience, COJOT designs, develops and  
manufactures innovative broadband antennas that improve 
the connectivity, coverage and competitiveness of radio 
equipment deployed to save lives and protect property.

mWAVE, based in Windham, Maine in the United States,  
is a leading global provider of advanced custom and  
commercial microwave antenna solutions. The company  
was established in 2004 and designs and manufactures  
standard and custom microwave antenna products for  
commercial and government applications spanning  
the scientific, defence and academic communities. Alaris  
USA, trading as a division of mWAVE Industries, sells and  
supports specialised antennas and other RF related products  
designed by COJOT and Alaris Antennas to customer base 
in North America. 

alarisholdings.com

INVESTMENT OVERVIEW
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TRAKKA SYSTEMS
Trakka Systems is a group of independently owned Global 
Aerospace Companies, whose primary focus is to design, 
manufacture, market and distribute innovative high-powered 
DO-160-certified critical vision solutions for airborne, marine 
and land-based operations around the world. The Trakka 
Systems group offers a comprehensive portfolio of products, 
accessories, spare parts and services for civil and critical 
missions, all major rotorcraft OEM’s, completion centres,  
and MR&O facilities. The Trakka Group’s extensive engineering 
capabilities, AS9100D and FAA-PMA manufacturing facilities, 
and FAA/EASA 145 repair stations deliver fast time-to-market 
solutions with superior customer support worldwide.

8

trakkasystems.com
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trakkatech.com

TRAKKA TECH
Trakka Tech primarily focuses on providing customers with 
a world-class range of specialised mission solutions. It has 
entered into strategic partnerships with a select number 
of esteemed brands to distribute a range of best-in-breed 
technology and equipment for maritime, air or land mission 
requirements. Tailored specifically for Defence Forces,  
Special Forces and the HLS market, their high-end tactical 
mission systems and products help deliver superior solutions. 

9

Our biggest assets are the ones 
looking to do the ordinary in an 
extraordinary way.
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INVESTMENT 
PROPERTY10

As an investment category, Tadvest understands the value  
and growth opportunity within property. We invest and partner 
strategically with in-country property specialists where we see  
sound fundamental returns over a defined timeline. With a global  
outlook we will continue to pursue opportunities within the  
broader category of property whether it be commercial, industrial,  
retail or residential.

We don’t just consider location,  
we consider every square metre.

INVESTMENT OVERVIEW
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For us the smallest detail is  
as important as the big picture.

Hertford Office Park is ideally located on the corner of Allandale 
and Bekker Road and connects seamlessly to the N1 highway. 
At the heartbeat of the expanding Waterfall node, Hertford will 
comprise approximately 75 000m² premium office space on 
completion of the development. Amenities in close proximity 
to Hertford include the Mall of Africa, newly completed medical 
facilities and top schools. The office park comes to life with  
a coffee shop, beautifully landscaped gardens and will include  
a Planet Fitness to cater for those pursuing an active lifestyle. 

HERTFORD OFFICE PARK

Location Midrand, Gauteng

Sector Commercial

Ownership 33.33%

GRA 71 933m2

Site Area 60 044m2

Key tenants Roche, Cosmopolitan Projects
Goodyear, Planet Fitness

INVESTMENT OVERVIEW
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Waterfall Ridge is situated on the corner of Waterfall Ridge 
Boulevard and Pretorius Road, just off Allandale Road. BMW’s 
new dealership consisting of 7 623m2 was completed in May 
2018 and construction on the new 4 808m2 Bridgestone head 
office and fitment centre completed in April 2019.

The Waterfall Ridge Centre will be anchored by Food Lovers 
Market, Liquor City and Hi-Q, and will cater for both retail  
and motor clients. The centre will measure approximately  
12 000m² in size once completed.

WATERFALL RIDGE

Location Midrand, Gauteng

Sector Mixed Use

Ownership 17.8% (BMW 50% of 17.8%)

GRA 31 575m2

Site Area 62 201m2

Key tenants BMW, Bridgestone, Food 
Lovers Market, Hi-Q
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Located opposite the Firs and across the road from the exclusive  
Hyatt Hotel, Rosebank Towers is situated in the heart of the  
ever-growing Rosebank business hub.

Rosebank Towers is a multi-tenanted Green-rated building  
that offers premium space within walking distance to the Mall 
of Rosebank and The Zone Shopping Centre, both of which  
host world-class amenities. The Gautrain station and the new  
Bus Rapid Transport System are within walking distance, as well 
as being 5 minutes from the M1 highway.

ROSEBANK TOWERS

Location Rosebank, Johannesburg

Sector Commercial

Ownership 15%

Site Area 3 761m2

GRA 25 776m2

Key tenants Redefine, Virgin Active

48
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Westend Office Park is located on the banks of the Hennops 
River and is easily accessible from highways and major routes.  
It is within walking distance of both the Centurion Gautrain  
station and Centurion Mall.

WESTEND OFFICE PARK

Location Centurion, Gauteng

Sector Commercial

Ownership 16.67%

Site Area 45 181m2

GRA 37 365m2

Key tenants Brolink, Sabinet, Old Mutual, Sanlam

PSG
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Centurion Junction is located on the corner of Gerrard  
& Von Willigh street directly opposite the Centurion Gautrain  
station and is in close proximity to the Centurion CBD  
and Centurion Mall.

The development will comprise of approximately 45 000m2 
of rentable office space, a gym and a hotel.

54

CENTURION JUNCTION

Location Centurion, Gauteng

Sector Commercial

Site Area 44 655m2

INVESTMENT OVERVIEW



46

Menlyn Central is perfectly positioned in one of Pretoria’s most  
vibrant nodes, and forms part of the greater Menlyn Maine  
precinct. The recently completed P-grade office space connects  
businesses to everything the popular node has on offer, giving  
tenants a balanced corporate lifestyle. The office space is now 
available to let and boasts with the latest in commercial offerings, 
including modern security systems, lower energy consumption 
and efficiently designed interiors ensuring great productivity  
and flexibility. Menlyn Central connects seamlessly to excellent  
local amenities which include convenience and luxury retail  
shops, a variety of hotels, conference facilities, gyms and  
a multitude of value-added services. Located in close proximity  
to both the Garsfontein and Atterbury N1 freeway interchanges,  
Menlyn Central ensures easy accessibility from anywhere  
in Pretoria East.

MENLYN CENTRAL

Location Menlyn, Pretoria

Sector Commercial & Motor Retail

Ownership 25% via SPV

Site Area 7 478m2

GRA 28 387m2

Key tenants Barloworld Motor Retail – Toyota
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Riverfront Square is a planned 4.8 hectare, transit-oriented, 
waterfront development project located on the site of the former 
Newark Bears and Eagles Riverfront Stadium. 

The site is ideally located as a mixed use development or a lower 
density residential scheme. The Lotus Equity team is in negotiations 
with development partners to finalize the exit from the initial 
development phase of this investment.

52RIVERFRONT SQUARE

Location Newark, USA 

Sector Mixed use

Site Area 48 000m2

INVESTMENT OVERVIEW
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LivinnX Kraków was constructed as part of a renovation  
project of the former radio manufacturing factory building  
in Kraków, Poland. The hall offers 710 beds available  
in 290 residential units of various configurations (1, 2, 3 
and 4 persons per unit). Each unit is fully fitted out with  
a living area, kitchen, individual bedrooms and 1 or more 
bathrooms. The rooms and common spaces inside the  
building reach up to 3.9 metres in height and maintain  
the industrial character with several accents referring  
to the previous function of the building.

Apart from the residential units located on six floors of the 
building, LivinnX Kraków also offers 2000m2 of various  
amenities. The residents have at their disposal, among  
others, specially arranged study and entertainment areas, 
a large shared kitchen, a 24-hour gym, sauna, yoga room, 
climbing wall, art studio and even a terrace with a hot tub 
located on the roof of the building. On level - 1 there  
is a laundry and a bicycle parking area. There is also 24-hour  
security and CCTV monitoring. Thanks to its convenient  
location, the student accommodation is close to many  
of Kraków’s key colleges and universities.  
 
It is also located in close proximity to the Old Town  
and the Kazimierz district, offering access to cultural  
facilities and services such as museums, art galleries, clubs, 
restaurants and the Vistula River embankments.

LivinnX Kraków has been developed by Golub GetHouse,  
a real estate, investment and development company with  
over 55 years’ experience in the real estate market in the  
United States and Europe in cooperation with the CA  
Ventures International, a US-based investment company 
specializing in student housing construction in North  
and South America. 

livinnxpoland.pl/en/

LIVINNX KRAKOW

Location Krakow, Poland

Sector PBSA

Ownership 14.03%

Units 290

Beds 710

GRA 14 265m2
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1. GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Tadvest Limited (‘’Tadvest’’ or the ‘’Company’’) has complied with 
the Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius (the ‘’Code’’) 
in all material respects. The Board recognizes the need to conduct 
the Company with integrity and in accordance with generally  
accepted corporate governance practices. This includes timely,  
relevant and meaningful reporting to shareholders and all other 
stakeholders and providing a proper and objective perspective  
of the company and its activities.  
 
The Board strives to ensure that the Company is ethically managed 
according to prudently determined risk parameters and corporate  
governance principles. The Board has established controls  
and procedures to ensure enhanced accuracy and integrity  
of accounting records, and to ensure that assets are safeguarded.  
 
This also ensures that financial statements may be relied upon  
for maintaining accountability. These mechanisms and policies  
are reviewed regularly. 

The Board is of the view that it satisfies the Code through the  
attendance and participation of Abman Proprietary Limited  
(‘’Abman”), in its capacity as investment advisor, during its  
deliberations on strategy and investment decisions regarding  
the Company and its portfolio of investments. 

The Directors have the pleasure in submitting the Company’s  
report on corporate governance. This report describes the main 
corporate governance framework and compliance of the Company  
with the disclosures required under the Code. Reasons for non- 
compliance are provided in the Corporate Governance Report,  
where applicable. 
 
 
2. COMPANY’S PROFILE

The Company is a public limited liability company incorporated  
on 5 November 2014 and registered in Mauritius with company  
registration number C126446. The Company holds a Global  
Business Company with Licence Number C114013769 issued  
by the Financial Services Commission. 

The Registered address of the Company is C/o Safyr Utilis Ltd,  
7th Floor, Tower 1, NeXTeracom, Cybercity, Ebene, Republic  
of Mauritius. The Company is a listed entity on the Stock Exchange  
of Mauritius with a secondary listing on the Namibian Stock  
Exchange. The principal activity of the Company is that of an  
investment holding company. 
 
 
3. COMPANY’S CONSTITUTION

The Company adopted its constitution on 29 September 2015. 
For the year under review, no amendment was brought to the 
constitution of Tadvest. Furthermore, there is no provision in the  
constitution that restricts the transfer of shares.
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4. BOARD STRUCTURE 

The Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) consist of a mix  
of executive, non-executive and independent directors who are 
trusted to act in the best interests of the stakeholders of the  
Company. The Board is comprised of 5 directors under the  
chairmanship of Mr Deva Marianen. The chairman of the Board 
is elected by the directors.

In line with the Company’s commitment to ensure sound  
corporate governance, the Board assumes overall responsibility  
and accountability for the success and sustainability of the Company.  
 
Its role is focused primarily on exercising sound leadership  
and independent judgement when considering the Company’s  
strategic direction and overall performance, while always  
considering the best interests of all stakeholders. The Board  
as at 31 December 2019 comprised of 2 executive directors,  
2 non-executive directors, and 1 independent non-executive  
director, as listed below:

The Board ensures that it has the right balance of skills,  
experience, independence and business knowledge necessary 
to discharge its responsibilities. It also has sufficient diversity  
in terms of age, educational background and professional  
qualifications of the directors for better decision-making.  
 
The Board is responsible for leading and controlling the Company  
and meeting all legal and regulatory requirements. In line with the  
Code, all directors stand for re-election at the Annual General  
Meeting of Shareholders. The names of all directors, their profiles  
and categories as well as their directorships in other listed  
companies are set out on page 54.
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Deva Marianen x

Ian Chambers x

Dave Savage x

Chris Neser x

Mike Gray x
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4.1 COMMON DIRECTORS

4.2 BOARD MEETINGS

The Board is responsible to provide strategic direction to the  
Company and its underlying investments and ensure that the  
Company reaches its targeted growth in its net asset value  
and consequently growth in both yield and share price. Regular  
meetings of the Board are held to discuss the performance and 
day-to-day functioning of the Company and its investments.

The Board meetings are carried out in an environment which  
promotes constructive feedback from all members and which  
also encourages open discussions. 

The chairman together with the Company secretary decide  
on the meeting agendas, in which Abman participates as the 
Company’s investment advisor. The directors are aware of their 
duty to attend each Board meeting unless on exceptional  
circumstances. More detail on the meeting attendance of the  
directors has been provided in section 6.

4.3 BOARD PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

The Board reviewed the performance of the directors during  
the reporting year, the Board as a whole and the Board Committees  
deemed the individual and collective performances satisfactory  
and is satisfied that the Board and its Committees have fulfilled  
their responsibilities in accordance with the respective charters. 

4.4 INDEMNITIES AND INSURANCE

The directors and officers of the Company are covered by  
a directors and officers liability insurance policy which provides 
for the risks arising from acts or omissions of its directors and  
officers. The policy does not cover the Company against  
fraudulent, malicious or wilful acts or omissions of directors  
and officers.
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Ian Chambers x x

Dave Savage x x x x

Chris Neser x x x

Mike Gray x
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Deva Marianen 4,000 - 4,000

Ian Chambers 2,000 14,124 16,124

Dave Savage 2,000 - 2,000

Chris Neser 2,000 - 2,000

Mike Gray 8,000 - 8,000

4.5 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors are remunerated for their knowledge, experience  
and insight given to the Board. The Board has the power to fix 
directors’ remuneration in alignment with their individual as well 
as joint contribution towards the achievement of the company’s 
objective and performance, whilst considering the current  
market conditions and company’s financial performance. At this 
stage, there is no director approaching retirement. 

4.6. BOARD CHARTER

The Board has adopted a Board Charter and is satisfied that  
it has fulfilled its responsibilities in accordance with the Charter  
for the reporting period. The Board is the link between the  
Company and its shareholders and are collectively responsible  
to lead and control the Company to enable it to attain its strategic  
objectives. The Board is guided by the interests of all stakeholders  
in discharging its duties. 
 

4.7. BOARD SUB-COMMITTEES

The Board has 2 sub-committees, which have been established  
to assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities. These  
committees listed hereunder play an important role in ensuring  
good corporate governance and improving internal controls, thus, 
enhancing the performance of the Company. The Company’s 
Secretary acts as secretary to all the committees.
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COMMITTEES COMPOSITION MAIN RESPONSIBILITIES

 
Corporate Governance 

Committee

 
Mr. Mike Gray  
(Chairman)  

Mr. Deva Marianen 
(Member) 

Mr. Ian Chambers 
(Member)

 
To advise and make recommendations  
to the Board on all aspects of corporate 
governance that should be followed by 
the Company, so that the Board remains 
effective while complying with sound 
corporate governance practices and 
principles. The Committee advises the 
Board on key appointments at Board 
and top management level and reviews  
the remuneration structure of the  
Company.

 
Audit and Risk Committee

 
Mr. Mike Gray  
(Chairman)  

Mr. Ian Chambers 
(Member)

Mr. Chris Neser 
(Member)

 
To assist the Board in fulfilling its  
oversight responsibilities, to ensure 
that adequate checks and balances 
are in place, and risks are properly  
identified and managed.  
 
The responsibilities include: 

• considering and reviewing the 
reliability and accuracy of financial 
information and appropriateness  
of accounting policies and disclosure 
practices, the quarterly financial 
results, annual financial statements 
or any other documentation to be 
published in compliance with the 
Company’s accounting standards; 

• reviewing compliance with 
applicable laws and best corporate 
governance practices and regulatory 
requirements and the adequacy  
of accounting records and internal 
control systems; monitoring and 
supervising the functioning and 
performance of internal audit and 
considering the independence  
of the external auditors and making 
recommendations to the board 
on the appointment or dismissal 
of the external auditors. 

• review risk management strategies, 
ensuring that strategies to address 
potential threats to the Company’s 
success have been identified, 
estimated and approved and that 
threats are regularly re-assessed  
to determine impact of foreseeable 
events on the Company’s situation.
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6. BOARD AND COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE

During the year under review, four Board meetings, four Audit and Risk Committee meetings and one  
Corporate Governance meeting were held and the attendance is provided below:

7. SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE

The substantial shareholders of Tadvest Limited as at 31 December 2019 are as follows: 

BOARD MEETINGS AUDIT & RISK 
COMMITTEE

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE 

COMMITTEE

Deva Marianen 4 - 1

Ian Chambers 4 4 1

Dave Savage 4 - -

Chris Neser 4 3 -

Mike Gray 4 4 1

SHAREHOLDER % HOLDINGS

Semmatrix 37.97%

Matrix NSX (Pty) Ltd 25.52%

CRH Investments (Pty) Ltd 22.42%

Namib Gate Holdings (Pty) Ltd 10.77 %

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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SHAREHOLDER NO OF SHARES HELD ON THE SEM NO OF SHARES HELD ON THE NSX

Semmatrix 15,044,070 1,962,323

Matrix NSX (Pty) Ltd - 11,430,899

CRH Investments (Pty) Ltd - 10,040,088

Kieper Trust 151,960 -

Namib Gate Holdings (Pty) Ltd - 4,823,808

Lightside Investments (Pty) Ltd - 1,337,799

Total 15,196,030 29,594,917

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had the following shareholders and the number of shares held by each 
is shown below:
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7.1 SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATIONS

It will be the policy of Tadvest to meet regularly with shareholders 
and investment analysts for discussion on the performance  
and management of the Company. The Board encourages  
shareholders to attend The Annual General Meeting through  
effective communication whether by means of the press or otherwise.  
The last Annual Meeting of shareholders was held on 12 June 2019. 
The next meeting will be held not later than 15 months after that  
date and within 6 months of 31 December 2019. 

8. DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has no formal dividend policy. No dividend 
 was declared for the year under review.

9. COMPANY SECRETARY

Safyr Utilis Fund Services Ltd is the Company secretary.  
The Company secretary acts as a vital bridge between the Board 
and the executive management. The Company secretary  
oversees that the Board follows the correct procedures and 
complies with its obligations under law and the Company’s constitution. 

The Company secretary shall assist the chairperson of the Board  
in organizing the Board’s activities (including providing information,  
preparing an agenda, reporting of meetings, evaluations and  
training programs).

10. APPOINTMENT OF THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The Board of the Company recommended to the shareholders  
that Lancasters Chartered Accountants be re-appointed as auditors  
of the Company for the year ending 31 December 2019.  
 
The appointment of Lancasters Chartered Accountants was approved  
by the shareholders.

11. ADMINISTRATION AND ADVISORY 

Tadvest has an Administration and Advisory Agreement  
with Abman whereby the Company has appointed Abman  
as investment advisor. In its capacity as investment advisor,  
Abman is primarily responsible for providing recommendations 
to the Company in relation to the identification, negotiation  
and implementation of all investment related transactions  
to be effectuated by the Company.
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12. RISK GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL

1. The Board is responsible for the system of internal control  
    and risk management of the Company and its subsidiaries;

2. The Board is committed to continuously maintain adequate  
    internal control procedures with a view to safeguard the assets  
    of the Company. Areas with high residual risks are continuously  
    assessed and reviewed with the assistance of Abman;

3. The Board is also responsible to continuously implement  
    and maintain adequate and effective internal controls and also  
    ensure that the processes and systems used are operating  
    satisfactorily;

4. The Board derives assurance that the internal control  systems 
    are effective through the management of the Company  
    and for potential investments which will be appraised regularly  
    in respect of performance and operations;

5. The Board is responsible for how the internal controls are  
    implemented at all levels of the Company;

6. The Board believes that the Company’s systems of internal  
    control and risk management provide reasonable assurance  
    that control and risk issues are identified, reported on and  
    dealt with appropriately;

7. The Board is responsible for the assessment of the information,   
    information technology and information security policy in place.

13. INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

Tadvest relies on information technology, an aspect of its business  
operations to enhance performance. The Board recognises that  
information technology is a vital part of the Company’s strategy.  
The Company is striving for greater flexibility, efficiency, innovation,  
improving productivity and competitiveness whilst controlling costs.  
Modernising IT infrastructure is therefore an integral factor  
in enabling the company to respond faster to changing business  
needs for improved efficiency and process optimisation. The Board  
ensures that appropriate technology is implemented to maintain  
confidentiality and integrity. Security systems include virus scanners, 
firewall systems, access controls at operating system and application 
level, redundant systems, as well as regular data backups.  
 
The Company has an operational website and can be viewed  
on https://tadvest.com/

14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

For information on related party transactions, please refer  
to Note 19 of the Annual Financial Statements. 
 
 
15. CODE OF ETHICS

The Code of Ethics sets out the Company’s stance with regard 
to ethics, i.e., ‘Doing the right thing even when no one is looking’. 
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The Code of Ethics puts forward 10 Principles which are under- 
pinned by the core values of Tadvest. Shareholders will also  
be apprised of related party transactions through the issue  
of circulars and press releases by the Company in compliance  
with the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Limited.

16. STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES  
      IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial  
statements for each financial year, which present fairly the financial 
position, financial performance and cash flow of the Company.  
In preparing those financial statements, the Directors are required to:

1. Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them  

    consistently.

2. Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

3. State whether International Financial Reporting Standards  

    (IFRS) have been followed and complied with;

4. Prepare the financial statements on a going-concern basis  

    unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will  

    continue in business; and

5. Ensure that the Code of Corporate Governance has been  

    adhered to and in case of non-compliance, reason has been  

    provided accordingly.

17. REPORTING WITH INTEGRITY

The directors confirm that they have complied with the above  
requirements in preparing the Company’s financial statements.  
The external auditors are responsible for reporting on whether  
the financial statements are fairly presented. The directors are 
responsible for keeping proper accounting records, which  
disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position of the  
Company at any time and enable them to ensure that the  
financial statements comply with The Companies Act 2001  
and IFRS. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets 
of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps to prevent 
and detect fraud and other irregularities.  
 
The Board is committed to continuously maintain a sound system 
of risk management and adequate control procedures with a view 
to safeguarding the assets of the Company.

Nothing has come to the Board’s attention, to indicate any  
material breakdown in the functioning of the internal controls  
and systems during the period under review, which could have 
a material impact on the business.  
 
The financial statements are prepared from the accounting  
records on the basis of consistent use of appropriate accounting 
policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgement and  
estimates that fairly present the state of affairs of the Company.
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE TO CODE

(SECTION 75 (3) OF THE FINANCIAL REPORTING ACT)

Name of Public Interest Entity (‘PIE’):             Tadvest Limited 

Reporting Period:                                             01 January 2019 to 31 December 2019

We, the Directors of Tadvest Limited, confirm that to the best of our knowledge, the PIE has not complied  
to the following principles of the Codes of Corporate Governance.

 
PRINCIPLE 2: BOARDS AND ITS COMMITTEES

The title, function and role of the chairperson should be separate from that of the CEO.

The Board of Directors advised that the reason why the role of the chairperson is not separate from that  
of the CEO is because as the Company is a holding company and does not require a CEO for its functionalities.

 
PRINCIPLE 5: RISK GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Report on whistle-blowing rules and procedures; possible protections could include confidential hotlines,  
access to a confidential and independent person or office, safe harbours and rewards, or immunity to whistle  
blowers.

The Board of Directors advised that it intends to develop robust whistle blowing rules and procedures as soon 
as it develops further acquisition and intends to comply for the financial year 2020

Ian Andrew Chambers

Director

Michael John Gray 

Chairperson
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE TO CODE

(SECTION 75 (3) OF THE FINANCIAL REPORTING ACT)

Name of Public Interest Entity (‘PIE’):             Tadvest Limited 

Reporting Period:                                             01 January 2019 to 31 December 2019

We, the Directors of Tadvest Limited, confirm that to the best of our knowledge, the PIE has not complied  
to the following principles of the Codes of Corporate Governance.

 
PRINCIPLE 2: BOARDS AND ITS COMMITTEES

The title, function and role of the chairperson should be separate from that of the CEO.

The Board of Directors advised that the reason why the role of the chairperson is not separate from that  
of the CEO is because as the Company is a holding company and does not require a CEO for its functionalities.

 
PRINCIPLE 5: RISK GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Report on whistle-blowing rules and procedures; possible protections could include confidential hotlines,  
access to a confidential and independent person or office, safe harbours and rewards, or immunity to whistle  
blowers.

The Board of Directors advised that it intends to develop robust whistle blowing rules and procedures as soon 
as it develops further acquisition and intends to comply for the financial year 2020
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RISK IDENTIFIED HOW THIS RISK IS MITIGATED

Non-compliance with SEM & NSX listing 
requirements

• Appointment of and reliance on advice provided by  
 appropriately qualified sponsor (Safyr Capital/PSG)
• Appointment of appropriately qualified Company  
 Secretary to ensure compliance (Safyr Utilis)

Failure to issue appropriate and timeous SEM 
& NSX announcements

• Appointment of and reliance on advice provided  
 by appropriately qualified sponsor (Safyr/PSG)
• Appointment of appropriately qualified Company  
 Secretary to ensure compliance (Safyr)
• Timeous identification and submission of reports/returns

Non-compliance with statutory laws and 
regulations

• Obtain legal counsel before engaging unknown  
 jurisdictions and entering into unknown tax  
 jurisdictions as part of the Due Diligence process

Excessive risk taking at Board level • Board is well balanced between executive  
 and non-executive board members
• Board comprised of experienced directors  
 who understand risk management processes
• Board composition is reviewed on a regular  
 basis to ensure the necessary experience  
 levels and objectivity is maintained

Conflict of interest at Board level • Sufficient independence on board with appropriate  
 governance processes followed at all times
• Declarations and recusal at voting if necessary
• Appointment of appropriately qualified Company  
 Secretary to ensure compliance (Safyr)
• Appoint directors with appropriate  
 qualifications and experience 

Retention of non-performing assets • A detailed portfolio overview is presented to  
 the board on a bi-annual basis
• Continuous monitoring of portfolio investments  
 by external advisors

Inadequate performance by the service 
providers

• Service level agreements (“SLA”) are in place  
 with all service providers.
• External service providers report directly to  
 the Board of Directors

New acquisitions/investments do not meet 
the company’s investment criteria of capital 
growth and/or investment income

• Professional due diligences are required for all acquisitions. 
 All investment opportunities are presented to the board 
 for consideration and approval
• An investment strategy exists that guides  
 the investment process and decisions

Failure to perform adequate due diligence 
on foreign tax implications

• Due diligence performed by specialists as and 
 when transactions are planned / evaluated

Inability to raise sufficient funding for capital 
and operational requirements

• Timeous application for refinancing at banks 
• Management of liquidity risk
• Regular review of sureties and funding terms in place
• Diversified sources of funding

Risk Analysis

TADVEST ANNUAL REPORT 2019



65

RISK IDENTIFIED HOW THIS RISK IS MITIGATED

Failure to perform accurate due diligence on 
new investments

• Appointment of competent service providers,  
 legal, tax and accounting professionals 
• Independent and competent Board

Excessive cash in the group over extended 
periods of time resulting in an inability to 
achieve investment objective 

• Effective cash flow management  
 using 12 month rolling forecasts
• Ongoing evaluation of potential investment opportunities  
 to ensure excess cash is invested appropriately 

Inability to identify adequate investments that 
meet the investment criteria

• Bi-annual strategic sessions defining  
 future acquisitions into the portfolio
• Ongoing evaluation of potential investment opportunities

Lack of sufficient knowledge of political and 
economic risks in countries where foreign 
investments are held

• Continuous monitoring of the economic  
 status in relevant country
• Assessment of in-country management  
 of the portfolio/asset

Lack of sufficient reporting from portfolio 
companies

• Monthly review of management packs which  
 include cash flow management and forecasts
• Regular site visits
• Attendance of portfolio investment board  
 meetings and shareholder meetings

Insufficient controls at a portfolio company 
level

• Regular site visits
• Attendance of portfolio company board  

meetings and shareholder meetings

Portfolio company or investments not 
performing according to budgets and 
forecasts

• Active involvement in review of budgets and forecasts
• Active monitoring of 12 month forecasted cash flows
• Proactive management and monitoring of performance  
 relative to budgets and forecasts throughout the year

Unable to exit illiquid assets • Bi-annual strategic meetings reviewing  
 exit strategies of investments
• Implementing clear strategic targets for  
 the respective investments

Deterioration of asset values over time which  
remain part of the portfolio

• Regular benchmarking of asset  
 and portfolio performance

Over exposure to specific industries or 
countries which could result in higher 
portfolio risk

• Regular review of portfolio composition and  
 identification of high risk industries and countries
• Bi-annual strategic meetings reviewing exit  
 strategies of investments

Over exposure to a certain company or  
stock (Single Stock Risk)

• Diversification strategy of high exposure  
 to specific investments 
• Bi-annual strategic meetings reviewing  
 the portfolio composition and exposure

Key person risk • Implementation of clear succession planning and key person  
 risk management strategies within each investment
• Bi-annual review and adjustment of the key person  
 risk strategy
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Country of incorporation and domicile                              Mauritius

Nature of business and principal activities                          Investment Holding Company

Directors                                                                                Deva Marianen

                                                                                               Ian Andrew Chambers

                                                                                               Michael John Gray

                                                                                               Christiaan Brink Neser

                                                                                               David Stanley Savage

Registered office                                                                   SAFYR UTILIS LTD

                                                                                               7th Floor, Tower 1

                                                                                               NeXTeracom Cybercity

                                                                                               Ebene

                                                                                               Republic of Mauritius

                                                                                               72201 
 
 
Auditors                                                                                 Lancasters Chartered Accountants 
                                                                                                 
                                                                                               14 Lancaster Court 
                                                                                                 
                                                                                               Lavoquer Street 
                                                                                                
                                                                                               Port Louis 
                                                                                                 
                                                                                               Republic of Mauritius 
 
 
 
Company registration number                                             C126446

Level of assurance                                                                These financial statements have 
                                                                                               been  audited in compliance with 
                                                                                               the applicable requirements of the 
                                                                                               Mauritius Companies Act 2001.

Issued                                                                                     13 March 2020

Corporate Data
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The Audit and Risk Committee (“ARC”) submits below its report  
for the financial year ended 31 December 2019. 
 
1. MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

The members of the audit committee are all directors of the  
Company and include:

Michael John Gray (Chairman)

Ian Andrew Chambers

Christiaan Brink Neser 
 

2. INTERNAL CONTROL AND ACCOUNTING SYSTEMS

The ARC is of the opinion that the systems of internal financial 
and business controls are effective and form a basis for the  
preparation of reliable financial statements.  
 

3. EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The ARC satisfied itself through enquiry that the external auditors  
are independent as per the standards stipulated by the auditing  
profession. The ARC in consultation with its advisors, agreed  
to the terms of the engagement.  
 
The audit fee for the external audit has been considered  
and approved taking into consideration such factors as the timing 
of the audit, the extent of the work required and the scope. 
 

4. RECOMMENDATION TO THE BOARD

The ARC has reviewed and considered the Annual Financial  
Statements and has recommended it for approval by the Board.  
The ARC and the Board are satisfied that they have fulfilled their 
responsibilities as outlined in the Audit and Risk Committee Charter,  
during the year. 

On behalf of the Audit and Risk Committee

Michael John Gray

Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee

13 March 2020

Audit and Risk Committee Report
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The directors are responsible for the maintenance of adequate  
accounting records and for the preparation, integrity and objectivity 
of the Company’s Annual Financial Statements. 

The Audit and Risk Committee meets with the external auditor  
to consider internal controls, the audit process and financial  
reporting. The external auditor has unrestricted access to all records,  
related information, senior advisors and the Audit and Risk Committee. 
 
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International  
Financial Reporting Standards, the listing requirements of the SEM,  
and the requirements of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001, insofar 
as they are applicable to Global Business Licensed companies.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible  
for the system of internal financial control established by the 
company and place considerable importance on maintaining  
a strong control environment.  
 
To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, the board 
of directors sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing 
the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. 
 
The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities  
within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures 
and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. 
These controls are monitored throughout the company and all employees 
are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the  
company’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable  
circumstances is above reproach.  
 
The focus of risk management in the company is on identifying, assessing,  
managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the company.  
 
While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the company  
endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure,  
controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed 
within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information  
and explanations given by management, that the system of internal 
control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records 
may be relied on for the preparation of the financial statements.  
However, any system of internal financial control can provide  
only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material  
misstatement or loss. The directors have reviewed the company’s 
cash flow forecast for the year to 31 December 2020 and, in light

Directors’ Responsibilities 
and Approval
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of this review and the current financial position, they are satisfied 
that the company has or had access to adequate resources  
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future. The external auditors are responsible for independently  
auditing and reporting on the company’s financial statements. 

The financial statements have been examined by the company’s  
external auditors and their report is presented on pages 76 to 81.  
The financial statements set out on pages 82 to 121, which have  
been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved  
by the board of directors on 13 March 2020 and were signed  
on their behalf by:

Deva Marianen

Chairman of the Board

13 March 2020
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The directors have pleasure in submitting their report on the audited 
financial statements of Tadvest Limited (“Company”) for the year  
ended 31 December 2019. 
 
1. NATURE OF BUSINESS

Tadvest Limited was incorporated in Mauritius the principal activity  
of the company is that of an investment holding company. There  
have been no material changes to the nature of the company’s  
business from the prior year. 
 
2. REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS AND ACTIVITIES

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements  
of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001. The accounting policies  
have been applied consistently compared to the prior year. 
 
3. DIVIDENDS

The Company’s dividend policy is to consider an interim and a final  
dividend in respect of each financial year. At its discretion, the board  
of directors may consider a special dividend, where appropriate.  
 
Depending on the perceived need to retain funds for expansion 
or operating purposes, the board of directors may pass on the 
payment of dividends. The board of directors do not recommend 
the declaration of a dividend for the year (2018: USD Nil). 
 
4. DIRECTORATE

The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Deva Marianen 
Ian Andrew Chambers 
Michael John Gray 
Christiaan Brink Neser 
David Stanley Savage 
 
5. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

During the financial year, no contracts were entered into which  
directors or officers of the company had an interest and which  
significantly affected the business of the company. 
 
6. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to year end, COVID-19 has had a significant impact 
on the world economy and whilst the full impact of this pandemic 
is uncertain, the Company remains well capitalised and holds  
sufficient cash resources to limit the economic impact in the short 
to medium term. 

Directors’ Report
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In March 2020, the Company also entered into an agreement  
with Trademarc Holdings Polska to acquire an interest in a property  
development fund in Poland. The Company has committed  
EUR 3.5 million to the fund which will be drawn on as and when  
underlying investment opportunities are approved. The directors  
are not aware of any other material event which occurred after  
the reporting date and up to the date of this report. 
 
7. GOING CONCERN

The directors believe that the Company has adequate financial  
resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future  
and accordingly the financial statements have been prepared  
on a going concern basis.  
 
The directors have satisfied themselves that the Company  
is in a sound financial position and that it has access to sufficient 
borrowing facilities to meet its foreseeable cash requirements.  
The directors are not aware of any new material changes that  
may adversely impact the Company. The directors are also not 
aware of any material non-compliance with statutory or regulatory  
requirements or of any pending changes to legislation which  
may affect the Company. 
 
8. LITIGATION STATEMENT

The Company is not currently involved in any claims or lawsuits,  
which individually or in the aggregate, are expected to have  
a material adverse effect on the business or its assets.

The directors have pleasure in submitting their report on the audited 
financial statements of Tadvest Limited (“Company”) for the year  
ended 31 December 2019. 
 
1. NATURE OF BUSINESS

Tadvest Limited was incorporated in Mauritius the principal activity  
of the company is that of an investment holding company. There  
have been no material changes to the nature of the company’s  
business from the prior year. 
 
2. REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS AND ACTIVITIES

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements  
of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001. The accounting policies  
have been applied consistently compared to the prior year. 
 
3. DIVIDENDS

The Company’s dividend policy is to consider an interim and a final  
dividend in respect of each financial year. At its discretion, the board  
of directors may consider a special dividend, where appropriate.  
 
Depending on the perceived need to retain funds for expansion 
or operating purposes, the board of directors may pass on the 
payment of dividends. The board of directors do not recommend 
the declaration of a dividend for the year (2018: USD Nil). 
 
4. DIRECTORATE

The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Deva Marianen 
Ian Andrew Chambers 
Michael John Gray 
Christiaan Brink Neser 
David Stanley Savage 
 
5. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

During the financial year, no contracts were entered into which  
directors or officers of the company had an interest and which  
significantly affected the business of the company. 
 
6. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to year end, COVID-19 has had a significant impact 
on the world economy and whilst the full impact of this pandemic 
is uncertain, the Company remains well capitalised and holds  
sufficient cash resources to limit the economic impact in the short 
to medium term. 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



74

For the year ended 31 December 2019 Secretary’s certificate under Section 166 (d) of the Companies Act 2001  
In accordance with section 166(d) of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001, the Company Secretary certifies,  
to the best of its knowledge and belief, that the Company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such 
returns as are required of the Company under the Mauritius Companies Act 2001 for the year ended  
31 December 2019.

SAFYR UTILIS FUND SERVICES LTD

Represented by: Shaheen Coowar

Company Secretary

13 March 2020

Secretary’s Certificate
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OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of Tadvest Limited  
(‘the Company’), which comprise the statement of financial  
position as at 31 December 2019, and the statement of profit  
or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes 
in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended,  
and notes to the financial statements, including significant 
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view,  
in all material respects, of the financial position of the Company  
as at 31 December 2019, and of its financial performance  
and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and comply with  
the Mauritius Companies Act 2001. 
 
BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards  
on Auditing (ISA). Our responsibilities under those standards  
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are  
independent of the Company in accordance with the International  
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for  
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.  
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional  
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the  
financial statements of the current period. These matters  
were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial  
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,  
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

INVESTMENTS VALUATION

The Company’s main objective is to invest in entities for capital 
growth and has been classified as an investment entity in accordance  
with IFRS 10. In assessing the carrying value of the investments,  
directors have exercised judgement. 
 
IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

In evaluating the Company’s investments and loan receivables,  
circumstances may exist that indicate the need to impair  
these assets.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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HOW THE MATTER WAS RESOLVED DURING AUDIT

We have reviewed the characteristics associated with the Company’s  
recognition as an investment entity. We have reviewed the Directors’ 
measurement of fair value of the investments. We reviewed  
and challenged by reference to ownership deeds, contractual  
obligations, assumptions and estimates regarding the Directors’  
fair value assessment process. We ensured that the ownership  
documents were appropriate. We have reviewed the Board  
of Directors’ papers, management accounts, audited financial  
statements and prospectuses where relevant of entities in which 
investments have been made. We have enquired with the Directors’ 
as to the prospects of the investments. 
 
OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information included  
in the annual report. The other information comprises the  
Directors’ Report, the Corporate Governance Report, the Statement 
of Compliance and the Company Secretary’s Certificate, but does  
not include the financial statements nor our auditors’ report thereon.  
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other  
information and we do not express any form of assurance  
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements,  
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially  
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge  
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially  
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other  
information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report,  
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other  
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing 
to report in this regard. 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Our responsibility under the Financial Reporting Act is to report 
on the compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance  
disclosed in the annual report and assess the explanations given 
for non-compliance with any requirement of the Code. From  
our assessment of the disclosures made on corporate governance 
in the annual report, the Company has, pursuant to section  
75 of the Financial Reporting Act, complied with the requirements 
of the Code. 
 
RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THOSE  
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE FINANCIAL  
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair  
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with  
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements 
of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001, and for such internal 
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control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable  
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible  
for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern  
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors 
either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations,  
or have no realistic alternative but to do so. Those charged with  
governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial  
reporting process. 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements as a whole are free from material  
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high  
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error  
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,  
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic  
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 
We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design  
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,  
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate  
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting  
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than  
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,  
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the  
override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion  
on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used  
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the director’s use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit  
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude  
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
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attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,  
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report.  
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company 
to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the 
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and  
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors and those charged with                                 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including  
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify  
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement 
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. From  
the matters communicated with those charged with governance,  
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the financial statements of the current period and are  
therefore the key audit matters.
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We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law  
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter  
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that  
a matter should not be communicated in our report because  
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably  
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits  
of such communication. 
 
OTHER MATTER

This report is made solely for the Company’s shareholders,  
as a body, in accordance with Section 205 of the Companies 
Act 2001. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the Company’s shareholders those matters we are required  
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume  
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s  
shareholders, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the  
opinions we have formed. 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY  
REQUIREMENTS

MAURITIUS COMPANIES ACT 2001

We have no relationship with or interests in the Company other  
than in our capacity as auditors. We have obtained all the information  
and explanations we have required. In our opinion, proper accounting  
records have been kept by the Company as far as it appears from  
our examination of those records. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Lancasters  
Chartered Accountants 
14, Lancaster Court 
Lavoquer Street 
Port Louis 11328 
Mauritius 
 

Priyaved Jhugroo FCA 
Licensed by FRC

Date 
13 March 2020
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Statement of Financial Position
FIGURES IN US DOLLAR NOTES 31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Non-Current Assets   

Investments at fair value through profit or loss 3  53 455 482  43 571 574 

Loans receivable 4  992 335  961 919 

Total Non-Current Assets  54 447 817 44 533 493

Current Assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 6  168 354  52 721

Investments at fair value through profit or loss 3  4 305 581  8 809 750

Loans receivable 4 1 232 275  1 176 604

Trade and other receivables 5  46 143  53 053 

Total Current Assets 5 752 353 10 092 128

Total Assets  60 200 170  54 625 621 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     

Equity   

Share capital 7  42 881 201  42 881 201 

Retained income 17 287 061 11 712 104

Total Equity 60 168 262 54 593 305

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 10 31 908 32 316

Total Equity and Liabilities 60 200 170 54 625 621

The net asset value per share for the year ended is USD 1.34 (2018: USD 1.22)

Deva Marianen  
Director  

Ian Andrew Chambers 
Director
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
FIGURES IN US DOLLAR NOTES 31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Revenue 11  667 429  1 331 991

Other income 12  -  434 453

Other gains or losses 13  5 324 616  (1 109 430) 

Operating expenses  (332 928) (301 609)

Operating profit 5 659 117 355 405 

Finance income 14  17 203  26 629

Finance costs 15  -  (7 229)

Profit before taxation 5 676 320  374 805

Income Tax 16  (101 363)  (140 084) 

Profit for the year 5 574 957 234 721

Other comprehensive income  -  - 

Total comprehensive income for the year 5 574 957    234 721

The earnings per share for the year ended is USD 0.12 (2018: USD 0.01)
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Statement of Changes in Equity
FIGURES IN US DOLLAR SHARE CAPITAL RETAINED INCOME TOTAL EQUITY

Balance at 01 January 2018 45 286 617  11 477 383 56 764 000

Profit for the year -  234 721  234 721

Other comprehensive income - - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year -  234 721 234 721

Share buy-back (2 405 416) - (2 405 416)

Total contributions by and distributions 
to owners of company recognised 
directly in equity

(2 405 416)  -  (2 405 416)

Balance at 01 January 2019 42 881 201  11 712 104  54 593 305

Profit for the year - 5 574 957  5 574 957

Other comprehensive income -  -  -

Total comprehensive income for the year - 5 574 957 5 574 957

Balance at 31 December 2019 42 881 201  17 287 061  60 168 262

Note 7     
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Statement of Cash Flows
FIGURES IN US DOLLAR NOTES 31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Cash flows from operating activities   

Cash (utilised)/generated from operations 18 (302 273)  (408 807) 

Interest income  17 399  19 646 

Dividends received  667 429 1 331 991

Tax paid 17  (101 363)  (147 878)

Net cash from operating activities  281 192  794 952

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of investments at fair value through profit or 
loss

3  (8 034 731)  (15 715 482) 

Sale of investments at fair value through profit or loss 3 7 942 542 16 552 799

Loans advanced to investee companies  (244 865)  (407 699) 

Receipts from loans to investee companies 174 375    432 719

Net cash from investing activities (162 679) 862 337 

Cash flows from financing activities    

Share buy-back - (2 052 697)

Finance costs - (7 229)

Net cash from financing activities - (2 059 926)

Total cash movement for the year 118 513 (402 637)

Cash at the beginning of the year 52 721 514 489

Effect of translation of foreign exchange rate on cash 
and cash equivalents

(2 880) (59 131)

Total cash at end of the year 6 168 354 52 721
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Tadvest Limited is a public limited company incorporated  
and domiciled in Mauritius. The financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2019 were authorised for issue in accordance 
with a resolution of the directors. 
 
1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these  
financial statements are set out below. 
 
1.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern 
basis in accordance with, and in compliance with, International  
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and International Financial  
Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) interpretations  
issued and effective at the time of preparing these financial  
statements and the Mauritius Companies Act 2001. 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historic cost  
convention, unless otherwise stated in the accounting policies  
which follow and incorporate the principal accounting policies  
set out below. 

They are presented in US Dollars, which is the company’s  
functional currency. These accounting policies are consistent  
with the previous period. 
 
1.2 SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND SOURCES  
      OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS 
requires management, from time to time, to make judgements,  
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies 
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  
 
These estimates and associated assumptions are based on experience  
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period  
in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Notes to the financial statements
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The critical judgements made by management in applying  
accounting policies, apart from those involving estimations,  
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the financial statements, are outlined as follows:  
 
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION

Several assets and liabilities of the company are either measured 
at fair value or disclosure is made of their fair values.

Observable market data is used as inputs to the extent that  
it is available. Qualified external valuers are consulted for the  
determination of appropriate valuation techniques and inputs. 
 
1.3 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instruments held by the company are classified  
in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. 
Broadly, the classification possibilities, which are adopted by the 
company, as applicable, are as follows:

FINANCIAL ASSETS WHICH ARE EQUITY INSTRUMENTS: 
 
- Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss; or 
- Designated as at fair value through other comprehensive income 
 
FINANCIAL ASSETS WHICH ARE DEBT INSTRUMENTS: 
 
- Amortised cost; or 
- Fair value through other comprehensive income; or 
- Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss; or 
- Designated at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
DERIVATIVES WHICH ARE NOT PART OF A HEDGING RELATIONSHIP: 
 
- Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES: 
 
- Amortised cost; or 
- Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss; or 
- Designated at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Note 20 Financial instruments and risk management presents  
the financial instruments held by the company based on their 
specific classifications.   

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



88

LOANS RECEIVABLE AT AMORTISED COST

CLASSIFICATION

Loans receivable (note 4) are classified as financial assets  
subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

They have been classified in this manner because the contractual 
terms of these loans give rise, on specified dates to cash flows  
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
outstanding, and the company’s business model is to collect the 
contractual cash flows on these loans.

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Loans receivable are recognised when the company becomes a party  
to the contractual provisions of the loan. The loans are measured, 
at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any. 

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the loan initially,  
minus principal repayments, plus cumulative amortisation (interest) 
using the effective interest method of any difference between the 
initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance.

LOANS DENOMINATED IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES

When a loan receivable is denominated in a foreign currency,  
the carrying amount of the loan is determined in the foreign  
currency. The carrying amount is then translated to the US Dollar 
equivalent using the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. 
Any resulting foreign exchange gains or losses are recognised  
in profit or loss in the other operating gains/(losses) (note 13).  
Details of foreign currency risk exposure and the management 
thereof are provided in the specific notes.

IMPAIRMENT

The company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit  
losses on all loans receivable measured at amortised cost.  
The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting 
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition  
of the respective loans. The company measures the loss allowance 
at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses (lifetime ECL)  
when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since  
initial recognition. If the credit risk on a loan has not increased  
significantly since initial recognition, then the loss allowance  
for that loan is measured at 12 month expected credit losses  
(12 month ECL).

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result  
from all possible default events over the expected life of a loan.  
In contrast, 12 month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL  
that is expected to result from default events on a loan that are  
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. In order to assess 
whether to apply lifetime ECL or 12 month ELC, in other words, 
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whether or not there has been a significant increase in credit risk  
since initial recognition, the company considers whether there  
has been a significant increase in the risk of a default occurring since  
initial recognition rather than at evidence of a loan being credit  
impaired at the reporting date or of an actual default occurring.

MEASUREMENT AND RECOGNITION OF EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function  
of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude 
of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default, taking 
the time value of money into consideration.

The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default  
is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information  
as described above. The exposure at default is the gross carrying  
amount of the loan at the reporting date.

Lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis in cases where  
evidence of significant increases in credit risk are not yet available 
at the individual instrument level. Loans are then grouped in such 
a manner that they share similar credit risk characteristics, such 
as nature of the loan, external credit ratings (if available), industry 
of counterparty etc. 

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure  
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit 
risk characteristics.

If the company has measured the loss allowance for a financial  
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous  
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date  
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the company 
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12 month 
ECL at the current reporting date, and vice versa. 

An impairment gain or loss is recognised for all loans in profit  
or loss with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount 
through a loss allowance account.  
 
The impairment loss is included in operating expenses in profit  
or loss as a movement in credit loss allowance (note 4).

CREDIT RISK

Details of credit risk related to loans receivable are included 
in the specific notes and the financial instruments and risk 
management (note 20).

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

CLASSIFICATION

Trade and other receivables, excluding, when applicable,  
VAT and prepayments, are classified as financial assets subsequently 
measured at amortised cost (note 5).
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RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Trade and other receivables are recognised when the company  
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the receivables.  
They are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus  
transaction costs, if any. They are subsequently measured  
at amortised cost. The amortised cost is the amount recognised 
on the receivable initially, minus principal repayments, plus  
cumulative amortisation (interest) using the effective interest  
method of any difference between the initial amount  
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. 

INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

CLASSIFICATION

Investments in equity instruments are presented in note 3.  
They are classified as mandatorily at fair value through profit  
or loss. As an exception to this classification, the company may  
make an irrevocable election, on an instrument by instrument basis,  
and on initial recognition, to designate certain investments in equity 
instruments as at fair value through other comprehensive income.

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Investments in equity instruments are recognised when the company  
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  
The investments are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value.  
Transaction costs are added to the initial carrying amount for those  
investments which have been designated as at fair value through  
other comprehensive income. All other transaction costs are  
recognised in profit or loss.

Investments in equity instruments are subsequently measured  
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised either in profit 
or loss or in other comprehensive income (and accumulated  
in equity in the reserve for valuation of investments), depending 
on their classification. Details of the valuation policies and processes 
are presented in note 21.

Fair value gains or losses recognised on investments at fair value  
through profit or loss are included in other operating gains/(losses) 
(note 13).

Dividends received on equity investments are recognised in profit  
or loss when the company’s right to receive the dividends  
is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery 
of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included  
in Revenue (note 11).

INVESTMENTS DENOMINATED IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES

When an investment in an equity instrument is denominated  
in a foreign currency, the fair value of the investment is determined 
in the foreign currency. The fair value is then translated  
to the US Dollar equivalent using the spot rate at the end  
of each reporting period. 
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Any resulting foreign exchange gains or losses are recognised 
in profit or loss as part of the fair value adjustment for investments 
which are classified as at fair value through profit or loss. Foreign 
exchange gains or losses arising on investments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in equity in the reserve for valuation  
of investments.

Details of the foreign currency risk exposure and the management 
thereof are provided in the financial instruments and risk management  
(note 20).

IMPAIRMENT

Investments in equity instruments are not subject to impairment  
provisions.

DERECOGNITION

The gains or losses which accumulated in equity in the reserve  
for valuation of investments for equity investments at fair value  
through other comprehensive income are not reclassified  
to profit or loss on derecognition. Instead, the cumulative amount  
is transferred directly to retained earnings.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

CLASSIFICATION

Trade and other payables (note 10), excluding VAT and amounts  
received in advance, are classified as financial liabilities subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.

RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

They are recognised when the company becomes a party to the  
contractual provisions, and are measured, at initial recognition,  
at fair value plus transaction costs, if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES DENOMINATED IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES

When trade payables are denominated in a foreign currency,  
the carrying amount of the payables are determined in the foreign  
currency. The carrying amount is then translated to the US Dollar 
equivalent using the spot rate at the end of each reporting period.  
Any resulting foreign exchange gains or losses are recognised  
in profit or loss in the other operating gains/(losses) (note 13).

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at carrying amount which 
is deemed to be fair value.

BANK OVERDRAFTS

Bank overdrafts are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.
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1.4 TAX

CURRENT TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid,  
recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect  
of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those 
periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods  
are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered  
from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that  
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the  
reporting period.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary  
differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax liability  
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction  
which at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting  
profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary  
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit  
will be available against which the deductible temporary difference 
can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not recognised when  
it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability  
in a transaction at the time of the transaction, affects neither  
accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates 
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised 
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that  
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period.

TAX EXPENSES

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other  
comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are credited 
or charged, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive 
income. Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited  
directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited  
or charged, in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

1.5 SHARE CAPITAL AND EQUITY

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual  
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. 
Ordinary shares are recognised at par value and classified as ‘share 
capital’ in equity. Any amounts received from the issue of shares 
in excess of par value is classified as ‘share premium’ in equity. 
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the company in which  
they are declared.
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2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

2.1 STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS EFFECTIVE AND ADOPTED IN THE  
      CURRENT YEAR

In the current year, the company has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective 
for the current financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

STANDARD/ INTERPRETATION: EFFECTIVE DATE: YEARS 
BEGINNING ON OR AFTER

EXPECTED IMPACT:

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Annual
Improvements to IFRS 2015 - 2017 cycle

01 January 2019 The impact of the 
amendments is not

material.

Amendments to IAS 23 Borrowing Costs: Annual
Improvements to IFRS 2015 - 2017 cycle

01 January 2019 The impact of the
amendments is not

material.

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 01 January 2019 The impact of the
amendments is not

material.

IFRS 16 Leases 01 January 2019 The impact of the
amendments is not

material.

STANDARD/ INTERPRETATION: EFFECTIVE DATE: YEARS 
BEGINNING ON OR AFTER

EXPECTED IMPACT:

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or 
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and 
its Associate or Joint Venture

01 January 2020 Unlikely there will be  
a material impact

Presentation of Financial Statements: Disclosure 
initiative

01 January 2020 Unlikely there will be  
a material impact 

Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors: Disclosure initiative

01 January 2020 Unlikely there will be 
a material impact

2.2 STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The company has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been 
published and are mandatory for the company’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 January 2020  
or later periods:
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3. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

RECONCILIATION OF INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS - 2019

OPENING BALANCE ADDITIONS FAIR VALUE FX ADJUSTMENT DISPOSALS TOTAL

Non-Current   

Tadvest SA 27 684 320 - 2 549 246 880 319 (1 422 542)  29 691 343 

EPP 6 767 445   - (354 442) (78 668) -  6 334 335 

Trakka Corp (Ord Share) 4 075 152 - 362 484 (2 764) - 4 434 872

Trakka Corp (Pref) 153 752 - - (643) - 153 109

Trakka Systems AB 153 991  - 3 606 490 141 338 -  3 901 819

Trakka US 19 - - - -  19

Trakka Optics 22 - - - - 22

Alaris - 4 788 256 282 942 60 673 -  5 131 871 

Kemtek 1 355 814 - (336 718) 6 548 - 1 025 644

Bounty Brands 1 505 602 - (1 384 868) (49 151) -  71 583 

Alphamin Resources 1 875 456 160 000    (760 782) 117 798 - 1 392 472

Tadvest Cyprus - 1 311 475 - 6 917 - 1 318 392 

Broadacres Retreat 1 -  - - - 1 

Current

Old Mutual Money Market 8 809 750 1 775 000 240 831 - (6 520 000) 4 305 581

52 381 324 8 034 731 4 205 383 1 082 367 (7 942 542) 57 761 063
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RECONCILIATION OF INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS - 2019

OPENING BALANCE ADDITIONS FAIR VALUE FX ADJUSTMENT DISPOSALS TOTAL

Non-Current   

Tadvest SA 27 684 320 - 2 549 246 880 319 (1 422 542)  29 691 343 

EPP 6 767 445   - (354 442) (78 668) -  6 334 335 

Trakka Corp (Ord Share) 4 075 152 - 362 484 (2 764) - 4 434 872

Trakka Corp (Pref) 153 752 - - (643) - 153 109

Trakka Systems AB 153 991  - 3 606 490 141 338 -  3 901 819

Trakka US 19 - - - -  19

Trakka Optics 22 - - - - 22

Alaris - 4 788 256 282 942 60 673 -  5 131 871 

Kemtek 1 355 814 - (336 718) 6 548 - 1 025 644

Bounty Brands 1 505 602 - (1 384 868) (49 151) -  71 583 

Alphamin Resources 1 875 456 160 000    (760 782) 117 798 - 1 392 472

Tadvest Cyprus - 1 311 475 - 6 917 - 1 318 392 

Broadacres Retreat 1 -  - - - 1 

Current

Old Mutual Money Market 8 809 750 1 775 000 240 831 - (6 520 000) 4 305 581

52 381 324 8 034 731 4 205 383 1 082 367 (7 942 542) 57 761 063
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RECONCILIATION OF INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS - 2018

OPENING BALANCE ADDITIONS FAIR VALUE FX ADJUSTMENT DISPOSALS TOTAL

Non-Current   

Tadvest SA 38 107 745 - 5 969 610 (3 748 055) (12 644 980)  27 684 320 

EPP 5 864 426   1 702 058 453 017 (692 253) (559 803)  6 767 445 

Trakka Corp (Ord Share) 4 491 075 - - (415 923) - 4 075 152

Trakka Corp (Pref) 169 445 - - (15 693) - 153 752

Trakka Systems AB 169 707  - - (15 716) -  153 991

Trakka US 21 - - (2) -  19

Trakka Optics 24 - - (2) - 22

Kemtek 2 205 469 - (581 347) (268 308) - 1 355 814

Bounty Brands 3 014 939 - (1 380 072) (129 265) -  1 505 602

Alphamin Resources - 2 000 000    17 078 (141 622) - 1 875 456

SWS 11 28 - - - (28) -

Broadacres Retreat 1 - - - - 1

Current

Old Mutual Money Market - 12 013 424 149 718 - (3 353 392) 8 809 750

54 022 880 15 715 482 4 628 004 (5 426 839) (16 558 203) 52 381 324

TADVEST ANNUAL REPORT 2019



97

RECONCILIATION OF INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS - 2018

OPENING BALANCE ADDITIONS FAIR VALUE FX ADJUSTMENT DISPOSALS TOTAL

Non-Current   

Tadvest SA 38 107 745 - 5 969 610 (3 748 055) (12 644 980)  27 684 320 

EPP 5 864 426   1 702 058 453 017 (692 253) (559 803)  6 767 445 

Trakka Corp (Ord Share) 4 491 075 - - (415 923) - 4 075 152

Trakka Corp (Pref) 169 445 - - (15 693) - 153 752

Trakka Systems AB 169 707  - - (15 716) -  153 991

Trakka US 21 - - (2) -  19

Trakka Optics 24 - - (2) - 22

Kemtek 2 205 469 - (581 347) (268 308) - 1 355 814

Bounty Brands 3 014 939 - (1 380 072) (129 265) -  1 505 602

Alphamin Resources - 2 000 000    17 078 (141 622) - 1 875 456

SWS 11 28 - - - (28) -

Broadacres Retreat 1 - - - - 1

Current

Old Mutual Money Market - 12 013 424 149 718 - (3 353 392) 8 809 750

54 022 880 15 715 482 4 628 004 (5 426 839) (16 558 203) 52 381 324
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3. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH  
    PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

Commentary on investments at fair value through profit or loss

TADVEST SA

2019:

The fair value of the investment in Tadvest SA (Pty) Ltd increased  
by USD 3,429,566 during the financial year, an increase in underlying 
value of USD 2,549,247 and a positive foreign exchange adjustment 
of USD 880,319. Tadvest SA returned capital equivalent to USD 1,422,542 
during the year.

2018:

During the year, the investment in Tadvest SA (Pty) Ltd was partially  
redeemed through the return of capital to the Company. The Company 
received ZAR 156,909,122 or the equivalent of USD 12,644,980 from  
Tadvest SA (Pty) Ltd.
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3. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH  
    PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

Commentary on investments at fair value through profit or loss

TADVEST SA

2019:

The fair value of the investment in Tadvest SA (Pty) Ltd increased  
by USD 3,429,566 during the financial year, an increase in underlying 
value of USD 2,549,247 and a positive foreign exchange adjustment 
of USD 880,319. Tadvest SA returned capital equivalent to USD 1,422,542 
during the year.

2018:

During the year, the investment in Tadvest SA (Pty) Ltd was partially  
redeemed through the return of capital to the Company. The Company 
received ZAR 156,909,122 or the equivalent of USD 12,644,980 from  
Tadvest SA (Pty) Ltd.

EPP

2019:

The Company received dividends of USD 667,429 from EPP during 
the 2019 financial year. The lower share price in EPP resulted  
in a negative fair value adjustment of USD 354,442 in addition  
to a negative foreign exchange adjustment of USD 78,668.

2018:

During 2018, the Company acquired 1,354,720 Ordinary  
Shares in EPP for USD 1.7m and disposed of 446,231 Ordinary  
Shares for USD 559,803. 

TRAKKA GROUP

2019:

The fair value of the investment in the Trakka Group, which 
comprises Trakka Corp, Trakka Systems AB, Trakka US and Trakka 
Optics increased by USD 4,106,905. The fair value adjustments  
were made off the strong financial performance by Trakka Corp  
and Trakka Systems AB. The realisation of the sales pipeline  
has resulted in both entities exceeding budget and prior year  
financial results. The Directors are of opinion that the value  
of each company in the Trakka Group must be aggregated  
to arrive at a collective fair value as a cash generating unit.

2018:

The fair value adjustment for 2018 for the Trakka related companies  
relates to the movement in currency resulting from a strong  
US Dollar against the Australian Dollar. Trakka Corp Pty Ltd, Trakka  
Systems AB, Trakka US LLC and Trakka Optics are related companies 
with common shareholders. The Directors are of opinion that the value 
of each company must be aggregated to arrive at a collective fair 
value as a cash generating unit, i.e USD 4,382,936 (2017: USD 4,830,272) 
because of dependence of the companies on Trakka Corp Pty Ltd.

KEMTEK

2019:

A negative fair value adjustment has been made due to poor  
financial performance of Kemtek over the past financial year. 
The company has appointed a new MD who has implemented  
necessary corporate restructuring which resulted in the company  
achieving profitability in the first 6 months of their current financial  
year and is on track to achieve budget for the year.

2018:

The fair value adjustment for 2018 is partially due to a strong US Dollar  
against the South African Rand and a downward adjustment 
to underlying fair value as a result of challenging business conditions 
facing the commercial and industrial print business in South Africa.
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BOUNTY BRANDS

2019:

A negative fair value adjustment has been made in the investment  
of Bounty Brands as they suffered a difficult year due to a very  
weak SA consumer as well as significant issues with their capital 
structure and over indebted balance sheet. The company has  
embarked on a capital restructuring process which is likely  
to cause material equity value destruction which is the cause  
for the fair value adjustment in 2019. 

2018:

The fair value adjustment for 2018 is partially due to a strong  
US Dollar against the underlying operational currencies 
of Bounty Brands and a downward adjustment to underlying fair  
value. This was mainly as result of a significant dividend being  
received during the year due to the sale of part of the South  
African business as well as the anticipated delayed listing 
and hence realisation in the underlying value of the business.

ALPHAMIN

2019:

Alphamin has made significant progress in the development  
of the tin mine during the year, however low share liquidity,  
a depressed tin price and temporary logistical issues has weighed  
on the share price. The fundamentals of Alphamin remain strong  
for the coming financial year.

2018:

During the year, the Company acquired USD 2m of Ordinary  
Shares in Alphamin Resources through a private placement. The Shares 
are held via the Toronto Stock Exchange and denominated in Canadian  
Dollars. This investment was funded through the divestment 
of the Old Mutual USD Money Market Fund.

ALARIS

2019:

During the year the Company acquired USD 4,788,256 of Ordinary 
Shares in Alaris from PSG Alpha investments. Alaris is well placed  
to benefit from the growth in the global defence market and  
especially in electronic warfare systems.

TADVEST CYPRUS

2019:

The LivinnX Krakow Purpose Built Student Housing (PBSA) was  
acquired through Tadvest Cyprus for USD 1,311,475. The project  
development was completed on time and in budget during the
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year and the let up of the building began for the first semester with 
occupancy expected to increase steadily over the next 12 months.

OLD MUTUAL MONEY MARKET

2019:

The Company acquired USD 1,775,000 of participating shares  
in Old Mutual Money Market and disposed of participating shares  
for USD 6,520,000. The funds were utilised for the acquisition  
of Alaris and for the LivinnX Krakow project via Tadvest Cyprus.  
Fair value gains of USD 240,931 were achieved during the year.

2018:

During 2018, the Company acquired 120,134 participating shares  
in Old Mutual Money Market for USD 12m and disposed of 33,550  
participating shares for a consideration of USD 3.35m. At year end,  
the Fund was yielding a return of 2.96%.

FAIR VALUE OF INVESTMENTS IN LOCAL 
CURRENCY

SHARE CAPITAL 31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Tadvest SA ZAR  415 408 632 397 189 712

EPP (JSE) ZAR 22 016 638  24 070 669

EPP (LuxSE) EUR 4 244 634 4 439 342

Trakka Corp (Ord Share) AUD 6 319 693 5 782 818

Trakka Corp (Pref Share) AUD 218 182 218 182

Trakka Systems AB AUD 5 506 094 218 520

Trakka US AUD 27 27

Trakka Optics AUD 30 30

Alaris ZAR 71 799 502 -

Kemtek ZAR 14 349 678 19 451 999

Bounty Brands ZAR 53 996 1 180 586

Alphamin Resources CAD 1 808 640 2 560 000

Tadvest Cyprus PLN 5 000 000 -

Broadacres Retreat ZAR 1 1
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SPLIT BETWEEN NON-CURRENT AND CURRENT PORTIONS 31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Non-current assets 992 335  961 919

Current assets 1 232 275 1 176 604

2 224 610 2 138 523

31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Gencor Ventures
The loan is unsecured, bears interest at 0.7% p.a. and has no fixed terms 
of repayment.

992 335  961 919

Trakka Corp (Interest bearing)
The loan is unsecured, bears interest at 8% p.a. and was repaid in January 
2020

72 608 -

Trakka Corp (Interest free)
The loan is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

1 020 647 1 037 001

Trakka Optics
The loan is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

139 020 139 603

2 224 610 2 138 523

4. LOANS RECEIVABLE

Loans receivable are presented at amortised cost, which is net of loss allowance, as follows:
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31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Gencor Ventures
The loan is unsecured, bears interest at 0.7% p.a. and has no fixed terms 
of repayment.

992 335  961 919

Trakka Corp (Interest bearing)
The loan is unsecured, bears interest at 8% p.a. and was repaid in January 
2020

72 608 -

Trakka Corp (Interest free)
The loan is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

1 020 647 1 037 001

Trakka Optics
The loan is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

139 020 139 603

2 224 610 2 138 523

EXPOSURE TO CREDIT RISK

Loans receivable inherently exposes the company to credit  
risk, being the risk that the company will incur financial loss  
if counterparties fail to make payments as they fall due.

Loans receivable are subject to the impairment provisions  
of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which requires a loss allowance 
to be recognised for all exposures to credit risk. The loss  
allowance for loans receivable is calculated based on twelve  
month expected losses if the credit risk has not increased  
significantly since initial recognition.

In cases where the credit risk has increased significantly  
since initial recognition, the loss allowance is calculated based  
on lifetime expected credit losses. 

The loss allowance is updated to either twelve month or lifetime 
expected credit losses at each reporting date based on changes 
in the credit risk since initial recognition.  
 
If a loan is considered to have a low credit risk at the reporting date, 
then it is assumed that the credit risk has not increased significantly 
since initial recognition. 

On the other hand, if a loan is in arrears more than 90 days, 
then it is assumed that there has been a significant increase  
in credit risk since initial recognition.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques  
or significant assumptions made during the current reporting period. 

The company does not hold collateral or other credit enhancements  
against loans receivable.
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2019 BASIS OF LOSS 
ALLOWANCE

GROSS CARRYING 
AMOUNT

LOSS 
ALLOWANCE

AMORTISED COST

Instrument

Gencor Ventures 12m ECL 992 335 -  992 335

Trakka Corp (Interest free) 12m ECL 1 020 647 - 1 020 647

Trakka Corp (Interest bearing) 12m ECL 72 608 - 72 608

Trakka Optics 12m ECL 139 020 - 139 020

2 224 610 - 2 224 610

2018 BASIS OF LOSS 
ALLOWANCE

GROSS CARRYING 
AMOUNT

LOSS 
ALLOWANCE

AMORTISED COST

Instrument

Gencor Ventures 12m ECL 961 919 -  961 919

Trakka Corp (Interest free) 12m ECL 1 037 001 - 1 037 001

Trakka Optics 12m ECL 139 603 - 139 603

2 138 523 - 2 138 523

EXPOSURE TO CURRENCY RISK 31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

US Dollar amount

AUD 1 554 841  1 453 872

Euro 669 769 684 651

2 224 610 2 138 523

CREDIT LOSS ALLOWANCES

The following tables set out the carrying amount, loss allowance and measurement basis of expected credit losses 
for loans receivable by credit rating grade:

In the opinion of the directors, the allowance for credit losses is not material.
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CREDIT LOSS ALLOWANCES

The following tables set out the carrying amount, loss allowance and measurement basis of expected credit losses 
for loans receivable by credit rating grade:

31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Financial Instruments

Trade receivables 29 088  34 903

Non-financial instruments

Prepayments 17 055 18 150

Total trade and other receivables 46 143 53 053

Split between non-current and current portions

Current assets 46 143 53 053

Financial instrument and non-financial instrument 
components of trade and other receivables

At amortised cost 29 088 34 903

Non-financial instruments 17 055 18 150

46 143 53 053

5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
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6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

7. SHARE CAPITAL

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS CONSIST OF: 31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Bank balances 168 354 52 721

31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Credit rating (Moody’s)

Baa2 168 354 52 721

Exposure to currency risk

US Dollar amount

US Dollar 143 603 34 916

Euro 3 359 979

ZAR 21 392 15 826

168 354 51 721

31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Reconciliation of number of shares issued

Opening Balance 44 790 947 47 143 403

Share Buy-Back - (2 352 456)

44 790 947 44 790 947

Reconciliation of issued share capital

Opening Balance 42 881 201 45 286 617

Share Buy-Back - (2 405 416)

42 881 201 42 881 201

Issued

Ordinary 42 881 201 42 881 201

CREDIT QUALITY OF CASH AT BANK AND SHORT TERM DEPOSITS, EXCLUDING CASH ON HAND 

The credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand that are neither past due 
nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if available) or historical information 
about counterparty default rates:

TADVEST ANNUAL REPORT 2019



107

8. EARNINGS PER SHARE

9. NAV PER SHARE

10. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

EARNINGS PER SHARE HAS BEEN 
BASED ON THE FOLLOWING

31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Profit for the year 5 574 957 234 721

Weighted average number of shares 44 790 947 46 163 213

Earnings per share 0.12 0.01

NAV PER SHARE HAS BEEN BASED ON THE FOLLOWING 31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

NAV 60 168 262 54 593 305

Number of shares outstanding at year end 44 790 947 44 790 947

NAV per share 1.34 1.22

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Other payables 2 777 2 574

Accrued expenses 29 131 29 742

Total trade and other payables 31 908 32 316

Exposure to currency risk

US Dollar Amount

US Dollar 31 908 32 316

11. REVENUE

31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Dividends received - EPP 667 429 731 146

Dividends received - Bounty Brands - 600 845

Total Revenue 667 429 1 331 991
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12. OTHER INCOME

13. OTHER OPERATING GAINS/(LOSSES)

31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Profit on disposal of shares - 434 453

31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Other foreign exchange gains/(losses)

Net foreign exchange gains (losses) 37 066 (310 595)

Fair value gains/(losses) on investments

Fair value gains/(losses) on investments at fair value 4 205 183 4 628 004

Foreign exchange gains/(losses) on investments at fair 
value

1 082 367 (5 426 839)

5 287 550 (798 835)

Total other operating gains/(losses) 5 324 616 (1 109 430)
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14. FINANCE INCOME

31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Interest income

Loans receivable at amortised cost 17 203 26 629

15. FINANCE COSTS

16. TAXATION

31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Bank overdraft - 7 229

31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Major components of the tax expense

Profit before tax 5 676 320 374 805

Tax effect at domestic tax rate of 15% 851 448 56 221

Non-allowable expenses 44 872 158 359

Exempt income (795 205) (68 115)

Foreign tax credit (101 115) (117 172)

Tax underprovision/(overprovision) - 18

Withholding tax paid 101 363 110 773

101 363 140 084

The Company is subject to income tax in Mauritius on its worldwide income at the rate of 15%. It is however,  
entitled to a tax credit equivalent to the higher of the actual foreign tax suffered or a presumed foreign tax  
credit of 80% of its Mauritian tax liability arising from its foreign sourced income. The policy of the presumed  
foreign tax credit will continue until June 2021.
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17. TAX PAID

18. CASH (UTILISED)/GENERATED IN OPERATIONS

31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Balance at beginning of the year (6 257) 1 537

Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss 101 363 140 084

Tax refunded 6 257 -

Balance at end of the year - (6 275)

Total Tax Paid 101 363 147 878

31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Profit before taxation 5 676 320 374 805

Adjustments for:

(Gains) losses on foreign exchange (37 065) 310 594

Dividends received (667 429) (1 331 991)

Interest income (17 203) (26 629)

Finance costs - 7 229

Fair value adjustment on investment (5 287 551) 798 836

Exchange differences on loan receivable 24 154 -

Receivable written off - 3 915

Profit on disposal of shares - (434 453)

Changes in working capital:

Trade and other receivables 6 911 (11 297)

Trade and other payables (410) (99 816)

(302 273) (408 807)
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19. RELATED PARTIES

RELATED PARTY BALANCES 31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Loan accounts - Owing (to) by related parties

Investee companies 2 224 610 2 138 523

Related party transactions

Administration fees paid to (received from) related parties

Safyr Utilis Fund Services Ltd 39 545 40 720

Compensation to directors

Director’s Fees 30 191 30 967
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20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS

NOTE(S) FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH 
PROFIT OR 

LOSS

AMORTISED 
COST

TOTAL FAIR VALUE

Categories of financial assets

2019

Investments at fair value 3 57 761 063 - 57 761 063 57 761 063

Loans receivable 4 - 2 224 610 2 224 610 2 224 610

Trade and other receivables 5 - 46 143 46 143 46 143

Cash and cash equivalents 6 - 168 354 168 354 168 354

57 761 063 2 439 107 60 200 170 60 200 170

2018

Investments at fair value 3 52 381 324 - 52 381 324 52 381 324

Loans receivable 4 - 2 138 523 2 138 523 2 138 523

Trade and other receivables 5 - 53 053 53 053 53 053

Cash and cash equivalents 6 - 52 721 52 721 52 721

52 381 324 2 244 297 54 625 621 54 625 621

CATEGORIES OF 
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

NOTE(S) AMORTISED 
COST

TOTAL FAIR VALUE

Categories of financial assets

2019

Trade and other payables 10 31 908 31 908 -

2018

Trade and other payables 10 32 316 32 316 -
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CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS

NOTE(S) FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH 
PROFIT OR 

LOSS

AMORTISED 
COST

TOTAL FAIR VALUE

Categories of financial assets

2019

Investments at fair value 3 57 761 063 - 57 761 063 57 761 063

Loans receivable 4 - 2 224 610 2 224 610 2 224 610

Trade and other receivables 5 - 46 143 46 143 46 143

Cash and cash equivalents 6 - 168 354 168 354 168 354

57 761 063 2 439 107 60 200 170 60 200 170

2018

Investments at fair value 3 52 381 324 - 52 381 324 52 381 324

Loans receivable 4 - 2 138 523 2 138 523 2 138 523

Trade and other receivables 5 - 53 053 53 053 53 053

Cash and cash equivalents 6 - 52 721 52 721 52 721

52 381 324 2 244 297 54 625 621 54 625 621

CATEGORIES OF 
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

NOTE(S) AMORTISED 
COST

TOTAL FAIR VALUE

Categories of financial assets

2019

Trade and other payables 10 31 908 31 908 -

2018

Trade and other payables 10 32 316 32 316 -

The Directors are of the opinion that loans receivable, cash  
and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade  
and other payables, which are stated at cost, are not materialy  
different from their fair value. 

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OVERVIEW

The company is exposed to the following risks from its use  
of financial instruments:

- Credit risk;

- Liquidity risk; and

- Market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk).

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a customer 
or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations.

The company is exposed to credit risk on loans receivable,  
investments at fair value through profit or loss, trade and other 
receivables and cash and cash equivalents.

Credit risk exposure arising on cash and cash equivalents  
is managed by the group through dealing with well-established 
financial institutions with high credit ratings.

The Company does not have any significant concentration  
of credit risk. The carrying amount of the financial assets represents 
the maximum credit exposure.
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The maximum exposure to credit risk is presented in the table below:

 GROSS CARRYING 
AMOUNT

CREDIT LOSS ALLOWANCE 
(2019)

AMORTISED COST/ 
FAIR VALUE

GROSS CARRYING 
AMOUNT

CREDIT LOSS ALLOWANCE 
(2018)

FAIR VALUE

Loans receivable 4 2 224 610 - 2 224 610 2 138 523 - 2 138 523

Investments at fair value through profit or loss 4 305 581 - 4 305 581 8 809 750 - 8 809 750

Trade and other receivables 5 29 088 - 29 088 34 903 - 34 903

Cash and cash equivalents 6 29 088 - 168 354 52 721 - 52 721

6 727 633 - 6 727 633 11 035 897 - 11 035 897
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 GROSS CARRYING 
AMOUNT

CREDIT LOSS ALLOWANCE 
(2019)

AMORTISED COST/ 
FAIR VALUE

GROSS CARRYING 
AMOUNT

CREDIT LOSS ALLOWANCE 
(2018)

FAIR VALUE

Loans receivable 4 2 224 610 - 2 224 610 2 138 523 - 2 138 523

Investments at fair value through profit or loss 4 305 581 - 4 305 581 8 809 750 - 8 809 750

Trade and other receivables 5 29 088 - 29 088 34 903 - 34 903

Cash and cash equivalents 6 29 088 - 168 354 52 721 - 52 721

6 727 633 - 6 727 633 11 035 897 - 11 035 897

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Company is exposed to liquidity risk, which is the risk that  
the Company will encounter difficulties in meeting its obligations 
as they become due.

The Company manages its liquidity risk by effectively managing 
its working capital, capital expenditure and cash flows. The financing 
requirements are met through a mixture of cash generated from 
operations and long and short term borrowings. 

Committed borrowing facilities are available for meeting liquidity  
requirements and deposits are held at central banking institutions.  
There have been no significant changes in the liquidity risk  
management policies and processes since the prior reporting period.

The maturity profile of contractual cash flows of non-derivative  
financial liabilities, and financial assets held to mitigate the risk, 
are presented in the following table. The cash flows are undiscounted  
contractual amounts.
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LESS THAN 
1 YEAR

1 TO 2 
YEARS

2 TO 5 
YEARS

OVER  
5 YEARS

TOTAL

2019

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 31 908 - - - 31 908

31 908 - - - 31 908

2018

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 32 316 - - - 32 316

32 316 - - - 32 316

ASSETS 31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

ZAR 37 443 891 30 793 066

AUD 10 044 685 5 864 655

USD 4 495 326 8 845 471

EUR 5 433 822 5 776 337

CAD 1 392 472 1 875 456

PLN 1 318 392 -

GBP 71 582 1 505 602

Liabilities

USD (31 908) (32 316)

Net Asset Value 60 168 262 54 628 271

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The company is exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of certain transactions and borrowings which  
are denominated in foreign currencies.  
 
During 2019, the ZAR has appreciated against the USD and traded at ZAR 13.99 (2018:ZAR 14.35) per USD 
as at 31 December 2019. The ZAR traded between 13.83 - 15.45 per USD during the course of 2019. 

CURRENCY PROFILE

The net carrying amounts, in US Dollar, of the various exposures, are denominated in the following currencies. 
The amounts have been presented in US Dollar by converting the foreign currency amounts at the closing rate  
at the reporting date:  
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LESS THAN 
1 YEAR

1 TO 2 
YEARS

2 TO 5 
YEARS

OVER  
5 YEARS

TOTAL

2019

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 31 908 - - - 31 908

31 908 - - - 31 908

2018

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 32 316 - - - 32 316

32 316 - - - 32 316

ASSETS 31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

ZAR 37 443 891 30 793 066

AUD 10 044 685 5 864 655

USD 4 495 326 8 845 471

EUR 5 433 822 5 776 337

CAD 1 392 472 1 875 456

PLN 1 318 392 -

GBP 71 582 1 505 602

Liabilities

USD (31 908) (32 316)

Net Asset Value 60 168 262 54 628 271

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The company is exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of certain transactions and borrowings which  
are denominated in foreign currencies.  
 
During 2019, the ZAR has appreciated against the USD and traded at ZAR 13.99 (2018:ZAR 14.35) per USD 
as at 31 December 2019. The ZAR traded between 13.83 - 15.45 per USD during the course of 2019. 

CURRENCY PROFILE

The net carrying amounts, in US Dollar, of the various exposures, are denominated in the following currencies. 
The amounts have been presented in US Dollar by converting the foreign currency amounts at the closing rate  
at the reporting date:  

21. FAIR VALUE INFORMATION

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The table below analyses assets and liabilities carried at fair value. The different levels are defined as follows:

Level 1: Quoted unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the company  
              can access at measurement date.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either  
              directly or indirectly.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

LEVELS OF FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Level 1

Financial assets at fair value through profit/(loss)

Listed shares 12 858 678 8 642 901

Total 12 858 678 8 642 901

Level 2

Financial assets at fair value through profit/(loss)

Unlisted shares 13 892 650 11 671 166

Total 13 892 650 11 671 166

Level 3

Financial assets at fair value through profit/(loss)

Unlisted shares 31 009 735 32 067 256

Total 31 009 735 32 067 256

EXCHANGE RATES  31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Foreign currency per US Dollar

South African Rand 13.991 14.347

Euro  0.892 0.872

Pound Sterling 0.754  0.784

Australian Dollar  1.425 1.418

Canadian Dollar  1.299 1.364

Polish Zloty  3.793 3.738
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Reconciliation of assets and liabilities measured at level 3

OPENING BALANCE ADDITIONS FAIR VALUE 
ADJUSTMENTS

DISPOSALS TRANSFERS OUT 
OF LEVEL 3

CLOSING BALANCE

2019  

Assets  

Unlisted shares 32 067 257 1 311 475 7 543 387 (1 422 542) (8 489 842) 31 009 735

Total 32 067 257 1 311 475 7 543 387 (1 422 542) (8 489 842) 31 009 735

2018

Assets

Unlisted shares 42 938 046 - 1 774 219 (12 645 008) - 32 067 257

Total 42 938 046 - 1 774 219 (12 645 008) - 32 067 257
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OPENING BALANCE ADDITIONS FAIR VALUE 
ADJUSTMENTS

DISPOSALS TRANSFERS OUT 
OF LEVEL 3

CLOSING BALANCE

2019  

Assets  

Unlisted shares 32 067 257 1 311 475 7 543 387 (1 422 542) (8 489 842) 31 009 735

Total 32 067 257 1 311 475 7 543 387 (1 422 542) (8 489 842) 31 009 735

2018

Assets

Unlisted shares 42 938 046 - 1 774 219 (12 645 008) - 32 067 257

Total 42 938 046 - 1 774 219 (12 645 008) - 32 067 257

VALUATION PROCESSES APPLIED BY THE GROUP

The fair value of private equity investment is performed by the 
company’s investment advisors and directors, on an annual basis.  
The valuation reports are discussed with the Audit and Risk  
Committee in accordance with the Company’s reporting policies

22. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to year end, COVID-19 has had a significant impact  
on the world economy and whilst the full impact of this pandemic 
is uncertain, the Company remains well capitalised and holds  
sufficient cash resources to limit the economic impact in the short 
to medium term. In March 2020, the Company also entered into 
an agreement with Trademarc Holdings Polska to acquire an interest 
in a property development fund in Poland. 
 
The Company has committed EUR 3.5 million to the fund which 
will be drawn on as and when underlying investment opportunities  
are approved.
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NOTES 31 DEC 2019 31 DEC 2018

Revenue

Dividends received 11 667 429 1 331 991

Other Income

Profit on disposal of shares 12 - 434 453

Other gains/(losses)

Foreign exchange gains/(losses) 37 066 (310 595)

Fair value adjustment on investments 5 287 550 (798 835)

13 5 324 616 (1 109 430)

Other operating expenses

Accounting fees (11 000)  (15 000)

Administration charges (28 545) (24 921)

Audit fees (20 649) (29 434)

Bank charges (6 939) (12 054)

Brokerage fees (25 840) (8 723)

Directors fees (30 191) (30 967)

Insurance (5 500) -

Licence fees (2 300) (2 200)

Listing fees (14 034) (8 447)

Professional fees  (180 619) (159 972)

Publication fees (7 311) (5 976)

Receivable written-off - (3 915)

(332 928) (301 609)

Operating profit 5 659 117 355 405

Investment income 14 17 203 26 629

Finance costs 15 - (7 229)

(Loss)/profit before taxation 5 676 320 374 805

Taxation 16 (101 363) (140 084)

Profit for the year 5 574 957 234 721

Detailed Income Statement
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